
 

 

 
 

BOARD 

OF 

COMMISSIONERS 
 

 

 

April 05, 2021 

7:00 PM 

 

 



Agenda – Camden County Board of Commissioners  April 05, 2021 

  Page 2 of 4 

 

 

This agenda is only a tentative schedule of matters the Commissioners may address at their 

meeting and all items found on it may be deleted, amended or deferred. The Commissioners may 

also, in their absolute discretion, consider matters not shown on this agenda. 
 

Special accommodations for the disabled who attend public meetings can be made by contacting 

the Clerk to the Board 24 hours in advance at 252-338-6363, Ext. 100. 

 

Please turn Cell Phone ringers off during the meeting. 
 

Agenda 
 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

BOC - Regular Meeting 

April 05, 2021 

7:00 PM 

Historic Courtroom, Courthouse Complex 

 

 Welcome & Call to Order 

 Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance 

 Pastor Bill Blake - McBride United Methodist Church 

ITEM 1. Public Comments 

It is requested that comments be limited to (2-3) minutes. The length and number of comments 

may be limited upon the Chairman’s discretion due to scheduling and other issues. 

ITEM 2. Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement 

ITEM 3. Consideration of Agenda (For discussion and possible action) 

ITEM 4. Presentations (For discussion and possible action) 

A. Camden Sheriff's Office - Brandon Blount 

B. Animal Ordinance Amendment Request - Cam Smart 

C. New High School Progress Report - Rick Ott 

Recess to South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors 

Reconvene Board of Commissioners 

ITEM 5. Public Hearings 

A. Camden Solar, LLC Amendment Request - Amber Curling 



Agenda – Camden County Board of Commissioners  April 05, 2021 

  Page 3 of 4 

 

B. Avery Shores Rezoning Request - Amber Curling 

ITEM 6. New Business (For discussion and possible action) 

A. Tax Report - Ken Bowman 

B. Board of Equalization and Review - Ken Bowman 

C. Advertisement of Liens on Real Property 

D. Finance Policies & Procedures - Ken Bowman 

ITEM 7. Board Appointments (For discussion and possible action) 

A. Planning Board 

B. Senior Advisory Board 

C. Parks & Recreation Advisory Board 

D. Senior Tarheel Legislature 

ITEM 8. Consent Agenda  

A. BOC Meeting Minutes - March 1, 2021 

B. BOC Meeting Minutes - March 3, 2021 

C. Closed Session Minutes 

D. Budget Amendments 

E. School Budget Amendments 

F. Tax Collection Report 

G. DMV Monthly Report 

H. Refunds Over $100.00 

I. Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00 

J. Pickups, Releases & Refunds 

K. Surplus Property Requests 

L. Proclamation - NC 811 Safe Digging Month 

ITEM 9. County Manager's Report 

ITEM 10. Commissioners' Reports 

ITEM 11. Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 



Agenda – Camden County Board of Commissioners  April 05, 2021 

  Page 4 of 4 

 

A. Register of Deeds Report 

B. Library Report 

ITEM 12. Other Matters (For discussion and possible action) 

ITEM 13. Adjourn 



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Presentations 

 

Item Number: 4.A 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Kevin Jones, 

 Sheriff 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Camden Sheriff's Office - Brandon Blount 

 

Attachments:  

 
Summary: 

Brandon Blount will announce recent grants awarded to the Sheriff's Office. 

4.A

Packet Pg. 5



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Presentations 

 

Item Number: 4.B 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Animal Ordinance Amendment Request - Cam Smart 

 

Attachments: Board of Commissioners (DOCX) 

 
Summary: 

Ms. Cam Smart will present a request for an amendment to the Camden County Animal 

Ordinance. 

4.B

Packet Pg. 6



Change Camden County Animal Ordinance for public safety  

by providing a distinction between domestic dogs and wolf-hybrids 

 

Overview:  Within the current ordinance, Camden County does not make a distinction between 

domestic dogs and wolf-hybrids.  This is dangerous to the citizens and visitors of the County as the 

current ordinance allows domestic dogs an unleashed freedom.  At least twenty-seven counties, 

including Guilford (cited in Attachment A), have adopted additional language within their ordinance to 

define and prohibit inherently dangerous animals.  At least twenty counties, including Forsyth (cited in 

Attachment A), have also incorporated language for wild and/or exotic animals. 

 

Supporting Facts: 

1.  Wolf-Hybrids are Inherently Dangerous 

Wolf-Hybrids grow up to be wolves, not dogs.  National Wildlife Federation 

“Finally, there is the concern that including wolf and wolf-crosses in the definition of dog sends a 

misleading message that wolves and wolf-dog crosses are safe as house pets, when, in actuality, 

such animals can be highly unpredictable and can have dangerous, instinctive wild behaviors.”  

American Veterinary Medical Association 

“The offspring of wild animals crossbred to domestic dogs and cats (wild animal hybrids) are 

considered wild animals by the National Association of State and Public Health Veterinarians 

(NASPHV) and the Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists.”  CDC   

“It’s clear from all statistics that wolf-dog hybrids present a severely heightened risk for infants 

and young children.”  Alexandra Semyonova, animal behaviorist, an analytical paper 

Summary, Section 1:  Wolf-Hybrids are wild animals that present our worst fear - A predator 

that is not afraid of humans. 

 

2. Spread of Rabies 

There is no rabies vaccine for wolf-hybrids.  CDC, AMVA    

The USDA withdraws proposal for wolf-hybrid rabies vaccine, creates distinction between 

domestic dog and wolf-hybrid.  Federal Register 

Rabies is a virus.  Though a bite is most common, it is the wet saliva that contains the 

virus.  It can be spread through contact of wet saliva to the eyes, nose, mouth and, 

within closer proximity, by aerosol spray.  CDC 

Human-to-human transmission through bites or saliva is theoretically possible but has 

never been confirmed.** The same applies for transmission to humans via consumption 

of raw meat or milk of infected animals.  WHO  

4.B.a

Packet Pg. 7

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
ar

d
 o

f 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
er

s 
 (

29
59

 :
 A

n
im

al
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t 

- 
C

am
 S

m
ar

t)

https://www.fws.gov/midwest/wolf/aboutwolves/nwf-hybrids.htm
https://www.avma.org/javma-news/2001-06-01/wolf-and-wolf-dog-crosses-not-eligible-be-added-dog-vaccine-labels
https://www.cdc.gov/rabies/exposure/animals/other.html
https://nonlineardogs.com/analytical-papers/what-you-need-to-know-about-wolf-dog-hybrids/
https://www.cdc.gov/rabies/specific_groups/veterinarians/vaccination.html
https://www.avma.org/javma-news/2001-06-01/wolf-and-wolf-dog-crosses-not-eligible-be-added-dog-vaccine-labels
https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2001-04-18/html/01-9624.htm
https://www.cdc.gov/rabies/transmission/index.html
https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/rabies


** The incubation period for rabies is typically 2–3 months but may vary from 1 week to 

1 year (WHO), allowing the virus to spread asymptomatically.  Mammals may have the 

rabies virus in their saliva and may be able to transmit it for a short period of time 

before clinical signs appear.  Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 

Rabies is a viral RNA CDC, just like Covid. 

Rabies virus survives death of animal.  Science Direct 

 
“Because the hunter dressed the deer with scratches on his hands game officials 
said, he inadvertently provided an entry point for the virus.”  Pennsylvania 
Game Commission article 

 
Summary, Section 2:  Rabies can be transmitted asymptomatically and is fatal.  With no 

vaccination for the wolf-hybrid, Camden County’s rural nature provides quick, ample 

opportunity for the spread of rabies.   

 

3. Imminent Threat, case in point 

Leaseholder at 141 Edgewater Dr, Shiloh has caged up to seven wolves or wolf-hybrids, along 

with domestic dogs on the property.  The leaseholder has no license to breed, kennel, or sell 

wolves or wolf-hybrids, and is not a resident of the County.   

Leaseholder operates a non-profit organization within the boundaries of Camden County with 

non-resident address: 

IRS list of registered charities as of March 2021:  Zooography, EIN 81-1383726.  IRS Bulk 

Download, Pub.78  

Zooography, EIN 81-1383726, registered with principal officer with Virginia address:  IRS 

Organization Search Tool 

Coast to Coast LLC, entity no. 1142483, registered by leaseholder using Virginia address 

in December 2020.  VA State Corporation Commission 

Leaseholder professes non-profit licensed by USDA and state.  Zooography on Facebook 

List of USDA License Holders.   

List of NCDA License Holders.   

NC requires license for shelters.  https://www.ncagr.gov/vet/aws/license.htm 

NC Definition of shelter includes non-profit organizations.  

https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/Statutes/HTML/BySection/Chapter_19A/GS_

19A-23.html 

4.B.a

Packet Pg. 8

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
ar

d
 o

f 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
er

s 
 (

29
59

 :
 A

n
im

al
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t 

- 
C

am
 S

m
ar

t)

https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/rabies
https://www.pa.gov/guides/foodborne-animal-transmitted-illnesses/
https://www.cdc.gov/rabies/about.html
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166093414002547
http://www.digitaljournal.com/article/318976#ixzz6pmtrIT49
http://www.digitaljournal.com/article/318976#ixzz6pmtrIT49
https://www.irs.gov/charities-non-profits/tax-exempt-organization-search
https://www.irs.gov/charities-non-profits/tax-exempt-organization-search
https://www.irs.gov/charities-non-profits/tax-exempt-organization-search
https://www.irs.gov/charities-non-profits/tax-exempt-organization-search
https://cis.scc.virginia.gov/EntitySearch/BusinessInformation?businessId=11142483&source=FromEntityResult&isSeries=False
https://www.facebook.com/zooography757
https://www.aphis.usda.gov/aphis/ourfocus/animalwelfare/ct_awa_regulated_businesses
https://apps.ncagr.gov/licensesearch/
https://www.ncagr.gov/vet/aws/license.htm
https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/Statutes/HTML/BySection/Chapter_19A/GS_19A-23.html
https://www.ncleg.gov/EnactedLegislation/Statutes/HTML/BySection/Chapter_19A/GS_19A-23.html


NC requires, minimally, once daily feeding, twice daily cleaning, shelter, and an exercise 

area suitable to animal size, along with second perimeter.   Subchapter J, North Carolina 

Administrative Code.   

Protection from Wolf-Hybrids 

Inadequate fencing and gates exist at 141 Edgewater and do not meet minimum 

standards for safety of humans.  Mission: Wolf  

Concrete should extend two feet into the ground.  Wolf-dog recommendations, Gray 

Wolf Conservation 

All entrances and exits must have double gates.  Wolf-dog recommendations, Gray Wolf 

Conservation 

An absentee caretaker does not have an emergency plan. 

Danger to Citizenry will Increase 

Leaseholder has kept more than 100 animals, including exotics, cited for violating 

ordinance in Virginia.  The Virginia Pilot 

Leaseholder has kept more than 200 animals, rains destroyed enclosure.  13News 

Leaseholder is actively breeding wolf-hybrids in Camden County. 

Complaints 

Local authorities have received numerous visits, phone calls, and documented 

complaints for animal welfare, noise levels, the rank smell from unsanitary conditions, 

and fear for family and pet safety.  Previous locations of Leaseholder have also incurred 

complaints from neighbors citing safety and animal waste as concerns.  

Summary, Section 3.  The leaseholder absorbs County resources and is knowingly in violation of 

state and local laws, disregards best practices, resides outside of Camden County and, through 

these non-resident, non-compliant, unregulated actions put Camden County citizens directly in 

the line of danger and increased risk for rabies, attacks, and other inherently dangerous animal 

events.   

 

Conclusion:  For the safety of our residents, visitors, and pets, make a distinction between domestic 

dogs and wolf-hybrids.  Adopt the proposed changes to Camden County Animal Ordinance based on 

precedent established by other County Commissioners within North Carolina.  Please see Attachment A. 

 

  

4.B.a

Packet Pg. 9

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
ar

d
 o

f 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
er

s 
 (

29
59

 :
 A

n
im

al
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t 

- 
C

am
 S

m
ar

t)

http://reports.oah.state.nc.us/ncac.asp?folderName=/Title%2002%20-%20Agriculture%20and%20Consumer%20Services/Chapter%2052%20-%20Veterinary
http://reports.oah.state.nc.us/ncac.asp?folderName=/Title%2002%20-%20Agriculture%20and%20Consumer%20Services/Chapter%2052%20-%20Veterinary
https://missionwolf.org/wolf-and-wolf-dog-care/
http://www.graywolfconservation.com/Wolf_Dogs/07_Recommendations.htm
http://www.graywolfconservation.com/Wolf_Dogs/07_Recommendations.htm
http://www.graywolfconservation.com/Wolf_Dogs/07_Recommendations.htm
http://www.graywolfconservation.com/Wolf_Dogs/07_Recommendations.htm
https://www.pilotonline.com/life/wildlife-nature/article_74c95b47-8111-53b1-ad1c-4d9f988cf71f.html
https://www.13newsnow.com/article/news/local/animal-non-profit-group-rebuilding-after-damaging-storms/328349200


Attachment A 

Requested Modifications to Camden County Animal Ordinance 

(see color-highlighted inserts) 

 

§ 93.01  DUTIES OF ANIMAL CONTROL OFFICER. 
   The Animal Control Officer shall be charged with the responsibility of the following: 
   (A)   Enforcing in the county all state or county laws, ordinances, and resolutions, relating to animals or 
to the care, custody, and control of animals; 
   (B)   Cooperating with the Health Director and assisting in the enforcement of the laws of North 
Carolina with regard to animals and especially with regard to dogs and cats and the confinement or 
leashing of vicious and destructive animals; 
   (C)   Making such canvases of the county as he or she deems necessary to ascertain that all animals are 
duly and properly listed for tax purposes; and 
   (D)   Operating pursuant to the policies of the Board of County Commissioners of the county. 
(Ord. 2001-6-1, passed 6-4-01) 
 
§ 93.02  DEFINITIONS. 
   For the purpose of this chapter, the following definitions shall apply unless the context clearly 
indicates or requires a different meaning. 
 
   ANIMAL CONTROL FACILITY or ANIMAL SHELTER.  The animal shelter in Elizabeth City now or formerly 
operated by the Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals of Northeastern North Carolina or any 
other facility so designated in writing by the County Board of Commissioners. 
   ANIMAL CONTROL OFFICER.  The Sheriff of Camden County and any deputy of the Sheriffs of Camden 
County. 
   ANIMALS WHICH ARE A PUBLIC NUISANCE.  Any animal that unreasonably annoys humans, endangers 
the life or health of persons or other animals, or substantially interferes with the rights of citizens, other 
than their owners, to enjoyment of life or property. The terms ANIMALS WHICH ARE A PUBLIC 
NUISANCE or PUBLIC NUISANCE ANIMAL shall include, but not be limited to: 
      (1)   Any animal that damages any property other than that of its owner. 
      (2)   Any animal that makes disturbing noises, including but not limited to, continued and repeated 
howling, barking, whining, or other utterances causing unreasonable annoyance, disturbance, or 
discomfort to reasonable persons of ordinary sensibilities in close proximity to the premises where the 
animal is kept or harbored. 
      (3)   Any animal in heat that is not confined so as to prevent attraction or contact with other animals 
as more particularly set forth in G.S. § 67-2. 
      (4)   Any animal, whether or not on the property of its owner, that without provocation, molests, 
attacks or otherwise interferes with the freedom of movement of persons in a public right-of-way. 
      (5)   Any animal that chases motor vehicles in a public right-of-way. 
      (6)   Any animal that attacks domestic animals. 
   CAMDEN COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT.  The Camden County Health Department shall be Albemarle 
Regional Health Services or other health department so designated in writing by the Camden County 
Board of Commissioners. 

4.B.a

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
ar

d
 o

f 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
er

s 
 (

29
59

 :
 A

n
im

al
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t 

- 
C

am
 S

m
ar

t)



   OWNER.  Any person, group of persons, firm, partnership or corporation owning, keeping, having 
charge of, sheltering, feeding, harboring or taking care of any animal.  The OWNER is responsible for the 
care, actions, and behavior of vicious and/or destructive animals. 
   STRAY ANIMALS.  Any animal that is wandering at large or lost; not under the immediate control of its 
owner; appears to be wandering at large; or is not immediately claimed by any person. 
   VICIOUS ANIMAL.   
      (1)   Any animal that has made an unprovoked attack on any human whether it be by biting or 
otherwise; or in any manner caused abrasions or cuts of the skin on a human; or 
      (2)   One who habitually or repeatedly attacks humans or farm stock, or other animals. 
(Ord. 2001-6-1, passed 6-4-01; Am. Ord. 2009-07-03, passed 6-6-09; Am. Ord. 2009-09-01, passed 9-8-
09) 
 
Insert two definitions (definitions excerpted from Guilford County NC Animal Ordinance)  
 
INHERENTLY DANGEROUS MAMMAL.  Any live member of the canidae, felidae or ursidae families, 

including hybrids thereof, which, due to their inherent nature, may be considered dangerous to humans 

and which include:  

(1) Canidae, including any member of the dog (canid) family not customarily domesticated by 

man, or any hybrids thereof, including wolf hybrids which are a cross between a wolf and a 

domestic dog, but not including domestic dogs (Canis Familiaris). 

(2) Felidae, including any member of the cat family weighing over 15 pounds not customarily 

domesticated by man, or any hybrids thereof, but not including domestic cats (Felis catus). 

(3) Ursidae, including any member of the bear family, or any hybrids thereof. 

EXOTIC OR WILD ANIMAL. An animal that would ordinarily be confined to a zoo; one that would 

ordinarily be found in the wilderness of this or any other country; one that is a species of animal not 

indigenous to the United States or to North America; or one that otherwise is likely to cause a 

reasonable person to be fearful of significant destruction of property or of bodily harm, and the latter 

includes, but is not limited to, monkeys, raccoons, squirrels, venomous reptiles and other such animals. 

Such animals are further defined as being those mammals or non-venomous reptiles weighing over 20 

pounds at maturity, which are known at law as free nature. Exotic or wild animals specifically do not 

include animals of a species customarily used in the state as ordinary household pets, animals of a 

species customarily used in the state as domestic farm animals, fish confined in an aquarium other than 

piranha, birds, or insects. 

 
§ 93.03  KEEPING FOUND ANIMALS. 
   It shall be unlawful for any person in the county to harbor, feed, keep in possession by confinement, or 
otherwise, any animal that does not belong to him or her, without the permission of the owner unless 
he or she has, within 24 hours from the time the animal came into his or her possession, notified the 
animal control officer. 
(Ord. 2001-6-1, passed 6-4-01)  Penalty, see § 93.99 
 
§ 93.04  ANIMALS REQUIRING SPECIAL TAGS. 

4.B.a

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
ar

d
 o

f 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
er

s 
 (

29
59

 :
 A

n
im

al
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t 

- 
C

am
 S

m
ar

t)

https://www.guilfordcountync.gov/our-county/animal-services/animal-control
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/camdencounty/latest/camdencounty_nc/0-0-0-1924#JD_93.99


   (A)   When any animal has on any occasion been a vicious animal or an animal that is a public nuisance, 
as defined herein, the owner of the animal shall at all times and in all places, when not directly injurious 
to the health of the animal, have the animal tagged with a special tag provided by the animal control 
officer that denotes that the animal is or has been a vicious animal or a public nuisance. 
   (B)   The special tagging may only be removed by the owner and after written authorization by the 
animal control officer. 
(Ord. 2001-6-1, passed 6-4-01) 
 
§ 93.05  RABIES VACCINATION AND CONTROL. 
   (A)   Every animal which has bitten anyone or which shows symptoms of rabies shall be confined and 
the facts immediately shall be properly reported to the Animal Control Officer by its owner or person 
having the animal in charge, and thereupon shall be securely quarantined at the direction of the animal 
control officer for a period of ten days and shall not be released from the quarantine, except by written 
permission of the animal control officer. 
   (B)   The biting animal and its records of vaccination and registration shall be inspected by the animal 
control officer who will then observe the following policy. 
      (1)   A properly vaccinated and registered animal may be confined on the owner's premises; 
provided, however, that an animal control officer determines that the owner has an adequate means of 
confinement upon his or her own premises and the animal is subject to observation by the officer at any 
time during the ten-day period. 
      (2)   (a)   An animal not properly vaccinated or registered, belonging to an owner, shall immediately 
be confined in a veterinary hospital or the county animal shelter, in which case the expense shall be 
borne by the owner for the ten days of confinement. 
         (b)   The animal shall not be vaccinated during confinement. 
      (3)   A stray animal shall immediately be confined in the county animal shelter or other facility as 
designated by the animal control officer for a ten-day period. 
         (a)   Except as provided above, when any animal has bitten a human, it shall be unlawful for the 
owner of the animal to refuse an investigation by the animal control officer; and the animal control 
officer shall have the authority to place the animal in supervised quarantine at a place or places of his or 
her choosing.  If rabies does not develop within ten days, the animal may be reclaimed upon full 
payment to the quarantine facility for the care, feeding or other expenses incurred on behalf of the 
animal.  All reclaim fees charged by the quarantine facility shall be the normal fees charged by the 
quarantine facility for services rendered.  Prior to reclaiming the animal, the owner must have the 
animal properly vaccinated and, for any dog or cat, shall apply for and pay any license taxes. 
         (b)   If an animal dies while under observation for rabies, then the head of the animal shall be 
submitted to the County Health Department for shipment to the State Laboratory of Hygiene for 
diagnosis. 
         (c)   It shall be unlawful for any person to kill or release any animal under observation for rabies, 
any animal suspected of having been exposed to rabies or any animal biting a human, or to remove the 
animal from the quarantine facility without written permission from the animal control officer. 
         (d)   The carcass of any dead animal exposed to rabies shall be surrendered to the animal control 
officer.  The head of the animal shall be submitted to the County Health Department for shipment to 
State Laboratory of Hygiene for diagnosis. 
         (e)   It shall be unlawful for any person to fail or refuse to surrender any animal for quarantine or 
destruction as required herein when demand therefore is made orally or in writing by the animal control 
officer. 
(Ord. 2001-6-1, passed 6-4-01)  Penalty, see § 93.99 
 

4.B.a

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
ar

d
 o

f 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
er

s 
 (

29
59

 :
 A

n
im

al
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t 

- 
C

am
 S

m
ar

t)

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/camdencounty/latest/camdencounty_nc/0-0-0-1924#JD_93.99


§ 93.06  VICIOUS ANIMALS. 
   (A)   It shall be unlawful for any person to permit his or her animal to run at large if the animal is 
vicious or has, in the past, been vicious.  In such cases, the owner of the animal, or person harboring the 
animal shall not permit the animal to leave the premises on which it is kept unless it is on a leash. 
   (B)   In the event of injuries caused by the vicious animal, the animal's owner shall be liable. 
(Ord. 2001-6-1, passed 6-4-01)  Penalty, see § 93.99 
 
 
Insert prohibition of Inherently Dangerous Mammals and Wild or Exotic Animals (Prohibition excerpted 
from Forsyth County NC Animal Ordinance, with nonsubstantive modification for Camden County) 
 
INHERENTLY DANGEROUS MAMMALS AND WILD OR EXOTIC ANIMALS 
Possession of inherently dangerous mammals and wild or exotic animals is prohibited. 

(A) Unlawful conduct. It shall be unlawful for any person or business entity to possess, harbor or have 
under their services within the county an inherently dangerous mammal or wild or exotic animal.  

(B) Exemptions from article. Provided that each such animal is maintained in a secure enclosure so 
constructed and maintained to prevent the animal's escape, this article shall not apply to:  

(1) Lawfully operated carnivals and circuses.  

(2) Lawfully operated pet shops.  

(3) Persons temporarily and lawfully transporting such animals through Camden County, 
provided that such transit time shall not be more than twenty-four (24) hours.  

(4) Scientific research laboratories.  

(5) Veterinary clinics in possession of such animals for medical treatment or rehabilitation 
purposes.  

(6) Wildlife rehabilitators with proper permits.  

(7) GFAS (Global Federation of Animal Sanctuaries) or AZA (Association of Zoos and & 
Aquariums) accredited or USDA/AWA licensed Zoos.  

(C) Impoundment and disposition of animals.  

(1) Any inherently dangerous mammal or wild or exotic animal which is kept by any person in 
contravention of this article may be taken up and impounded by the animal services 
department, without the necessity of a written order or a court order, for the protection of the 
public or the health of the animal.  

(2) If the animal cannot be taken up safely by the animal services department or if proper and 
safe housing cannot be found for the animal, the department may immediately destroy the 
animal.  

§ 93.07  ANIMALS AS PUBLIC NUISANCES. 
   (A)   It shall be unlawful for any person to permit his or her animal to run at large if the animal has 
been a public nuisance animal.  In such cases, the owner must keep the animal on his or her property at 
all times unless the animal is under the control of a competent person. 

4.B.a

Packet Pg. 13

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
ar

d
 o

f 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
er

s 
 (

29
59

 :
 A

n
im

al
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t 

- 
C

am
 S

m
ar

t)

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/camdencounty/latest/camdencounty_nc/0-0-0-1924#JD_93.99
https://library.municode.com/nc/forsyth_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=CH6AN_ARTVEXWIAN


 
   (B)   It shall be unlawful for any person to keep any animal on any property located within the county 
when the keeping of the animal constitutes a public nuisance or menace to public health or safety. 
(Ord. 2001-6-1, passed 6-4-01)  Penalty, see § 93.99 
 
§ 93.08  INJURING ANIMALS; NOTICE REQUIRED. 
   It shall be unlawful for any person injuring a domestic animal by running over or into the same or 
coming into contact with the same, with automobile, motorcycle, bicycle or other vehicle, to fail to 
make a reasonable effort to promptly notify the owner of the injured animal. 
(Ord. 2001-6-1, passed 6-4-01)  Penalty, see § 93.99 
 
§ 93.09  IMPOUNDING ANIMALS; REDEMPTION MATERIAL. 
   (A)   Any animal which appears to be lost or strayed shall be confined in the animal shelter in a 
humane manner for a period of not less than five days for redemption by the owner. 
      (1)   If an impounded animal is not redeemed by the owner within the period, it may be offered for 
sale to any responsible adult who is willing to comply with these animal control laws and sold to the 
person first after paying for it as hereinafter provided.  If any animal is purchased by any person, that 
person shall not thereafter sell the animal purchased from the animal shelter for a period of six months. 
Animals not redeemed within five days after being taken into custody may be sold or destroyed in a 
humane manner by the animal shelter staff.  Selling prices for these animals will be preset by the 
operator of the animal shelter and will be posted in the office of the shelter. 
      (2)   Immediately upon impounding an animal, the animal control officer shall make reasonable effort 
to notify the owner and inform the owner of the conditions whereby the animal may be redeemed. 
      (3)   Animals impounded which have been bitten by a rabid animal or appear to be suffering from 
rabies shall not be redeemed or sold, but shall be dealt with as provided hereinabove. 
      (4)   Any animal that is impounded which is badly wounded, diseased, or which is sick or diseased or 
poses a health threat to other animals in the animal shelter (not a rabies suspect) and has no 
identification shall be destroyed immediately in a humane manner.  If the animal has identification, the 
staff of the animal shelter shall attempt to notify the owner before disposing of the animal, but if the 
owner cannot be reached readily, and so if the animal is suffering or poses a health threat to other 
animals in the shelter, the staff of the animal shelter may destroy the animal at its discretion in a 
humane manner. 
      (5)   The animal control officer or the animal shelter staff may destroy any vicious animal or one that 
is a public nuisance when it poses a threat to the personal safety of any person. 
   (B)   When any animal has been impounded at the animal shelter, notice hereof shall be given to the 
owner.  The owner shall be entitled to resume possession of his or her animal, except as already 
provided for certain animals, upon compliance with the provisions of this chapter and the payment of 
shelter fees incurred.  The redemption fees shall be those normally charged by the animal shelter for 
care, feeding and other services rendered.  No dog or cat may be released unless an application has 
been submitted and the license tax paid. 
(Ord. 2001-6-1, passed 6-4-01) 
 
§ 93.10  ABANDONMENT OF ANIMALS. 
   It shall be a violation of this chapter for any person to abandon any animal in the county. 
(Ord. 2001-6-1, passed 6-4-01)  Penalty, see § 93.99 
  

4.B.a

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
ar

d
 o

f 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
er

s 
 (

29
59

 :
 A

n
im

al
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t 

- 
C

am
 S

m
ar

t)

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/camdencounty/latest/camdencounty_nc/0-0-0-1924#JD_93.99
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/camdencounty/latest/camdencounty_nc/0-0-0-1924#JD_93.99
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/camdencounty/latest/camdencounty_nc/0-0-0-1924#JD_93.99


§ 93.11  EXEMPTIONS. 
   Hospitals, clinics and other premises operated by licensed veterinarians for the care and treatment of 
animals are exempt from the provision of this chapter. 
(Ord. 2001-6-1, passed 6-4-01) 
 
§ 93.12  LICENSING OF CATS AND DOGS; FEE. 
   (A)   (1)   There is hereby imposed on a person owning or keeping up to two dogs or four cats a license 
fee as listed in the Camden County Fee Schedule, on each dog or cat six months of age or older for the 
privilege of keeping a dog or cat within the county. 
      (2)   For the purpose of this section, the following definitions shall apply unless the context clearly 
indicates or requires a different meaning. 
         KENNEL.  Any premises wherein a person owns, boards or keeps three or more dogs or five or more 
cats. 
         PERSON.  Associations, firms, partnerships and bodies politic and corporate, as well as to 
individuals. 
      (3)   There is hereby imposed on a person owning or keeping a kennel an annual license fee as listed 
in the Camden County Fee Schedule, on the kennel for the privilege of keeping a kennel within the 
county. 
   (B)   (1)   Every person owning or keeping up to two dogs or four cats shall apply to the Sheriff of 
Camden County for a license for the privilege of keeping a dog or cat six months of age or older within 
the county or within 30 days after the dog or cat is first kept within the county, whichever comes 
first.  The applicant shall be required to give the name and street address of the person owning or 
keeping the dog or cat and the name, breed or description, color, age and sex of the dog or cat.  The 
applicant for a license shall be made in writing by the applicant at the Sheriff’s Office. 
      (2)   Every person owning or keeping a kennel, as defined by this section, shall apply annually on or 
before December 31 to the Sheriff’s Office for a license for the privilege of keeping a kennel within the 
county or within 30 days after a kennel is first kept within the county, and the applicant shall be 
required to give the name and street address of the person owning or keeping the kennel.  The 
application for the license shall be made in writing by the applicant at the Sheriff’s Office. 
   (C)   The license fee shall be paid at the same time as the application for license is made and the license 
fee receipt shall constitute the license. 
   (D)   (1)   All dogs and cats kept within the county and on which a license fee is due pursuant hereto 
shall display a permanent license tag on the dog or cat.  The license tag shall be obtained from the 
Sheriff’s Office and the license tag shall continue to be used from year to year.  Lost or worn license tags 
shall be replaced by the owner or person keeping a dog or cat by applying for a license and paying the 
license fee as provided by this section. 
      (2)   The owner or keeper of dogs or cats owned, boarded or kept within a kennel and which dogs or 
cats are not licensed and displaying a permanent license tag, as provided by this section, shall cause the 
dogs or cats to either: 
         (a)   Display a permanent license tag on which shall appear the number assigned the kennel at the 
time payment of the license fee is made; or 
         (b)   Display on a collar worn by the dog or cat the name and phone number of the current owner. 
   (E)   The amount of any license fee imposed by this section shall be deemed a debt to the county. Any 
person owning, having or keeping any dog or cat in the county on or after November 1, 2001, without 
having obtained a license so to do shall be liable to an action in the name of the county in any court of 
competent jurisdiction for the amount of any license fee imposed by and required by this section to be 
paid for the privilege of keeping and having a dog or cat.  The animal control officer is authorized to 
cause a complaint to be filed against any person violating any of the provisions of this section and to 

4.B.a

Packet Pg. 15

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
ar

d
 o

f 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
er

s 
 (

29
59

 :
 A

n
im

al
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t 

- 
C

am
 S

m
ar

t)



cause an action to be brought against any person failing to pay any license fee required by the 
provisions of this section for the recovery of the license fee.  The action shall be cumulative and shall not 
be deemed as a bar or waiver of the right to institute any other civil or criminal proceeding for a 
violation of this section. 
   (F)   The provisions of this section requiring dogs and cats to be licensed shall not apply to those dogs 
or cats owned by or in the charge or care of persons who are nonresidents of the county or temporarily 
within the county for a period not exceeding 30 days, nor to dogs or cats temporarily brought into the 
county for the exclusive purpose of entering the dogs or cats in a show or other exhibition and entered 
for and kept at the show or exhibition, nor to dogs used as lead dogs for blind persons. 
(Ord. 2001-6-2, passed 6-4-01; Am. Ord. 2009-07-03, passed 6-6-09; Am. Ord. 2009-09-01, passed 9-8-
09)  Penalty, see § 93.99 
 
§ 93.99  PENALTY. 
   Any person who violates any provision of this chapter shall be fined not more than $500 or imprisoned 
for not more than 30 days. 
(Ord. 2001-6-1, passed 6-4-01) 
 

 

 

 

4.B.a

Packet Pg. 16

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

o
ar

d
 o

f 
C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
er

s 
 (

29
59

 :
 A

n
im

al
 O

rd
in

an
ce

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t 

- 
C

am
 S

m
ar

t)

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/camdencounty/latest/camdencounty_nc/0-0-0-1924#JD_93.99


 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Presentations 

 

Item Number: 4.C 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   New High School Progress Report - Rick Ott, MB Kahn 

 

Attachments:  

 
Summary: 

Rick Ott of MB Kahn will present a progress report on the new High School. 

4.C

Packet Pg. 17



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Public Hearings 

 

Item Number: 5.A 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Dan Porter, Planning Director 

 Planning & Zoning 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Camden Solar, LLC - Amendment Request 

 

Attachments: 1_CamdenSolarFarm_SummaryPublicHearing

 (DOCX) 

1_StafReport__CamdenSolarFarmAmendSUP (PDF) 

2_Application (PDF) 

3_Affadavitt (PDF) 

4_NeighborhoodMeeting _23Feb21 (PDF) 

5_OrderForSUP2017-10-01CamdenSolar (PDF) 

 
Agenda summary and supporting documentation attached. 

5.A

Packet Pg. 18



Camden County Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

        

Meeting Date:   April 5, 2021 

 

Attachments:   Staff Report, Application, Affidavit, Camden Solar LLC Special Use Permit 

Order (2017-10-01), Neighborhood Meeting Summary   

 

Submitted By: Planning Department  

 

Item Title: An Application to Request an Amendment (UDO 2021-02-03) to the Days of 

Operation of Special Use Permit (UDO 2017-10-01) from Camden Solar LLC. 

 

 

Summary: 

 

The Special Use Permit (UDO 2017-10-01) for Camden Solar was approved by the Board of 

Commissioners on January 8, 2017.  An Amendment was approved for a one-year extension of Special 

Use Permit (UDO 2017-10-01) for Camden Solar, LLC to expire January 8, 2021.  A building Permit for 

Construction of the Solar Panels and Equipment was issued on October 15, 2020.  Worley, the 

construction contractor for Camden Solar LLC, is requesting an Amendment to the Special Use Permit 

Condition Number 7, which states the Hours of Operation during the construction phase shall be from 

Monday-Saturday, dawn to dusk.  The Amendment is requesting to extend the days of operation to 

include Sundays.  

 

Recommendation: 

 

Choice #1 - Motion to Approve: 

 

Motion to approve the amendment to the Hours of Operation to include Sunday from Dawn to Dusk for 

Special Use Permit 2017-10-01. 

 

Choice #2 - Motion to Approve with Conditions: 

 

Motion to Approve the amendment the Hours of Operation to include Sunday from Dawn to Dusk on for 

Special Use Permit 2017-10-01 with the condition of on-site work only. 

 

Choice #3 - Motion to Deny: 

 

Motion to Deny the amendment to the Hours of Operation to include Sunday from Dawn to Dusk for 

Special Use Permit 2017-10-01. 

 

5.A.a

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_C
am

d
en

S
o

la
rF

ar
m

_S
u

m
m

ar
yP

u
b

lic
H

ea
ri

n
g

  (
29

52
 :

 C
am

d
en

 S
o

la
r,

 L
L

C
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 

UDO 2021-02-03 

Amendment to Special Use Permit (UDO 2017-10-01) 
 

 

PROJECT INFORMATION 

 

 

File Reference: UDO 2021-02-03 

Project Name: Camden Solar 

PIN:    02-8944-00-02-2843 

   02-8944-00-12-6886 

 

Applicant:               Camden Solar LLC  

Address:  2035 Sunset Lake Rd 

 Newark, DE 19702 

Phone:  303-202-3600 

Email:  NA 

 

Agent for Applicant:  Worley Group Inc. 

Address:  2675 Morgantown Rd  

          Reading, PA 19607 

Phone:    252-381-0114 

Fax:  NA 

Email:  NA   

 

Current Owner of Record:  James L. Cartwright, 

Douglas Cartwright and Martha Jackson 

 

Meeting Dates: 

02/23/2021 at 6pm Neighborhood Meeting 

   

 Application Received: 02/18/2021 

By:  Amber Curling, Planning 

 

Application Fee paid:  $400.00 

 

Completeness of Application:  Application is 

generally complete 

 

Documents included with Report 

A. Application to Amend Special Use Permit  

B. Consent Affidavit 

C. Summary of Neighborhood Meeting 

D. Recorded Order UDO#2017-10-01Camden 

Solar LLC Special Use Permit 

 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

REQUEST:  An Amendment to the Days of Operation, which is Condition number 7, for the Camden 

Solar LLC Special Use Permit (SUP) (UDO 2017-10-01) to include work on Sunday from dawn to dusk.   

 

Notification Information in UDO Public Notice Requirements: 

1.  Published Notice advertised 3/19/2021 and 3/26/2021 

2.  Posted Notice on site 3/18/2021 

3.  Mailed Notice were sent 3/18/2021 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

fR
ep

o
rt

__
C

am
d

en
S

o
la

rF
ar

m
A

m
en

d
S

U
P

  (
29

52
 :

 C
am

d
en

 S
o

la
r,

 L
L

C
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

Description/History of property:  The 215-acre parcels are located off Hwy 343 south and Sand Hills 

Rd.  The Special Use Permit (UDO 2017-10-01) for Camden Solar was approved by the Board of 

Commissioners on January 8, 2017.  An Amendment was approved for a one-year extension of Special 

Use Permit (UDO 2017-10-01) for Camden Solar, LLC to expire January 8, 2021.  A building Permit for 

Construction of the Solar Panels and Equipment was issued on October 15, 2020.  Worley, the 

construction contractor for Camden Solar LLC, is requesting an Amendment to the Special Use Permit 

Condition Number 7, which states the Hours of Operation during the construction phase shall be from 

Monday-Saturday, dawn to dusk (UDO 2021-02-03).  The Amendment is requesting to extend the days 

of operation to include Sundays. 

 

• SITE DATA 
•  

• Size of Lots:  Approximately 113 and 102 acres for an approximate total of 215 acres 

• Flood Zone:  Majority of property X and Shaded X 

• Zoning District(s): Rural Residential (RR) 

• Existing Land Uses: Previously Farmland in process of completing Solar Farm 

 

• VICINITY MAP 

•  
•   

  

Hwy 343 S 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

fR
ep

o
rt

__
C

am
d

en
S

o
la

rF
ar

m
A

m
en

d
S

U
P

  (
29

52
 :

 C
am

d
en

 S
o

la
r,

 L
L

C
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

•    

• SPECIAL USE REVIEW CONSIDERATIONS: 

•  

• 1.  Will the requested AMENDMENT to the SPECIAL USE PERMIT endanger the public health or 

safety? 

• Yes ☐ No ☒ 

•  

• 2Will the requested AMENDMENT to the SPECIAL USE PERMIT affects the compliance to 

required standards, conditions and specifications of the Unified Development Ordinance, including 

the Use Regulations? 

• Yes ☐ No ☒ 

•  

• 3.  Will the requested AMENDMENT to the SPECIAL USE PERMIT substantially injure the value 

of the abutting land? 

• Yes ☐ No ☒ 

•  

• 4 Will the requested AMENDMENT to the SPECIAL USE PERMIT affect the harmony of the area? 

• Yes ☐ No ☒ 

•  

• 5.  Will the requested AMENDMENT to the SPECIAL USE PERMIT affect the conformity with the 

County’s adopted policy guidance? 

• Yes ☐ No ☒ 

•  

• 6.  Will the requested AMENDMENT to the SPECIAL USE PERMIT affect the County’s ability to 

provide adequate public facilities? 

• Yes ☐ No ☒ 

•  

• Reasoning:  There is no evidence any of the above considerations will be affected by this 

requested amendment to the special use permit. 

•  

•  

• Recommendations 

•  
• The staff recommendation is to approve the request for an amendment to the special use 

permit days of operation to include Sunday due to the fact the review considerations concluded 

no negative impacts are present. 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

fR
ep

o
rt

__
C

am
d

en
S

o
la

rF
ar

m
A

m
en

d
S

U
P

  (
29

52
 :

 C
am

d
en

 S
o

la
r,

 L
L

C
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

R
eq

u
es

t)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

_A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
  (

29
52

 :
 C

am
d

en
 S

o
la

r,
 L

L
C

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t)



5.A.c

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

_A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
  (

29
52

 :
 C

am
d

en
 S

o
la

r,
 L

L
C

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t)



5.A.d

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

_A
ff

ad
av

it
t 

 (
29

52
 :

 C
am

d
en

 S
o

la
r,

 L
L

C
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

R
eq

u
es

t)



5.A.d

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

_A
ff

ad
av

it
t 

 (
29

52
 :

 C
am

d
en

 S
o

la
r,

 L
L

C
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

R
eq

u
es

t)



Camden County Neighborhood Meeting 
Date: 23 February 2021  

Time: 6:00 pm 

Location: Camden County Historic Courthouse 
 

Attendance: 
Eight people attended the Neighborhood Meeting. (See attached attendance sheet) 

• 5 project personnel 

• 1 county representative 

• 2 landowners 

Purpose:   
Discuss amendment to the Camden Solar Special Use Permit to extend the construction days of 

operation to include Sundays. 

 

Discussion Summary: 
• The project area has received an unprecedented amount of rainfall which has severely 

impacted the construction progress. 

• The project team is requesting to work Sundays for a limited amount of time, as needed. 

• The project team answered several questions about project landscaping buffer.  

• Both landowners who attended (Doug Cartwright and Anne Cartwright) provided support 

for our request. 

• County representative (Amber Curling) reviewed amendment path forward. 

5.A.e

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

_N
ei

g
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

M
ee

ti
n

g
 _

23
F

eb
21

  (
29

52
 :

 C
am

d
en

 S
o

la
r,

 L
L

C
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

R
eq

u
es

t)



5.A.e

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

_N
ei

g
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

M
ee

ti
n

g
 _

23
F

eb
21

  (
29

52
 :

 C
am

d
en

 S
o

la
r,

 L
L

C
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

R
eq

u
es

t)



5.A.f

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

_O
rd

er
F

o
rS

U
P

20
17

-1
0-

01
C

am
d

en
S

o
la

r 
 (

29
52

 :
 C

am
d

en
 S

o
la

r,
 L

L
C

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t)



5.A.f

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

_O
rd

er
F

o
rS

U
P

20
17

-1
0-

01
C

am
d

en
S

o
la

r 
 (

29
52

 :
 C

am
d

en
 S

o
la

r,
 L

L
C

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t)



5.A.f

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

_O
rd

er
F

o
rS

U
P

20
17

-1
0-

01
C

am
d

en
S

o
la

r 
 (

29
52

 :
 C

am
d

en
 S

o
la

r,
 L

L
C

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t)



5.A.f

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

_O
rd

er
F

o
rS

U
P

20
17

-1
0-

01
C

am
d

en
S

o
la

r 
 (

29
52

 :
 C

am
d

en
 S

o
la

r,
 L

L
C

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t)



5.A.f

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

_O
rd

er
F

o
rS

U
P

20
17

-1
0-

01
C

am
d

en
S

o
la

r 
 (

29
52

 :
 C

am
d

en
 S

o
la

r,
 L

L
C

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t)



5.A.f

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

_O
rd

er
F

o
rS

U
P

20
17

-1
0-

01
C

am
d

en
S

o
la

r 
 (

29
52

 :
 C

am
d

en
 S

o
la

r,
 L

L
C

 A
m

en
d

m
en

t 
R

eq
u

es
t)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Public Hearings 

 

Item Number: 5.B 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Dan Porter, Planning Director 

 Planning & Zoning 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Avery Shores Rezoning Request 

 

Attachments: 1_AgendaSummary_AveryRezoning (DOCX) 

1_StaffReport_AverytRezoning (PDF) 

2_ZoningMapAmendmentApplication (PDF) 

3_SitePlan (PDF) 

4_Zoning Comparision PD & WL to SR (PDF) 

5_NeighborhoodMeetingInformation (PDF) 

6_Deed (PDF) 

7_OrdinanceForAveryRezoning (PDF) 

8_CAMA_LUP Amendment Resolution (DOC) 

 
Agenda summary, Planning Board recommendation and supporting documentation attached. 

5.B

Packet Pg. 35



Camden County Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

        

Meeting Date:   April 5, 2021 

 

Attachments:   Avery Shores Rezoning Staff Findings, Application, Site Plan, Zoning 

Comparison, Neighborhood Meeting Summary, Deed, Resolution to amend 

CAMA Land Use Map 

 

Submitted By: Planning Department  

 

Item Title:  Application for Zoning Map Amendment from Avery Family Rev. Trust 

 

Summary: 

 

Avery Family Rev. Trust has requested a map amendment for approximately 52 acres from Planned 

Development (PD) and 37 acres from Working Lands to Suburban Residential (SR).  Both parcels are 

located off One Mill Rd and Riggs Rd in the Shiloh Township.   

 

The neighborhood meeting was held on December 9, 2020.  On January 20, 2021, the Planning Board 

recommended approval of the rezoning request with a 6-0 vote. 

 

The proposed zoning change is inconsistent with the CAMA Future Land Use Map.  The CAMA Future 

Land Use Maps has the majority of property identified as Conservation. 

 

The proposed zoning change is consistent with the County’s Comprehensive Future Land Use Map 

which shows the current Planned Development Zoning Parcel to be Village Mixed Use. 

 

Recommendations:   

 

Motion to approve Consistency Statement: 

 

The requested zoning change is consistent with Comprehensive Future Land Use Maps that reflect 

allowing higher density residential development in targeted areas of the County.   The requested zoning 

change is inconsistent with the CAMA Future Land Use Plan which identifies the majority of the 

property as Conservation.   

 

If rezoning is approved CAMA requires an approval of a Resolution to the CAMA Future Land Use 

Map. 

 

Motion to approve: 

 

Motion to approve the Ordinance 2021-03-01/Rezoning Application (UDO 2020-12-14) for the two 

parcels of property, approximately 52 acres and 37 acres from Planned Development (PD), Working 

Lands (WL) and a Rural Residential (RR); to Suburban Residential (SR); and to approve the resolution 

amending CAMA Future Land Use Map. 

 

Reasonableness Statement for approval: 

 

The requested rezoning is consistent with 2035 Comprehensive Future Land Use Plan and is 
supported in the 2005 CAMA Land Use Plan policy: “P.3 - Camden County supports the 

frequency of shoreline access as defined by 15A NCAC 7M, Section .0300, Shorefront Access 

5.B.a

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_A
g

en
d

aS
u

m
m

ar
y_

A
ve

ry
R

ez
o

n
in

g
  (

29
53

 :
 A

ve
ry

 S
h

o
re

s 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 R

eq
u

es
t)



Policies.  However, emphasis will be placed on providing access to the Great Dismal Swamp and 

the Shiloh Township area.”   
 

Motion for denial: 

 

Motion to deny the Ordinance 2021-03-01/Rezoning Application (UDO 2020-12-14) for the two parcels 

of property, approximately 52 acres and 37 acres from Planned Development (PD), Working Lands 

(WL) and a Rural Residential (RR) to Suburban Residential (SR). 

 

Reasonableness Statement for denial: 

 

The requested zoning change is inconsistent with the CAMA Future Land Use Plan which 

identifies the majority of the property as Conservation.      

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.B.a

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_A
g

en
d

aS
u

m
m

ar
y_

A
ve

ry
R

ez
o

n
in

g
  (

29
53

 :
 A

ve
ry

 S
h

o
re

s 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 R

eq
u

es
t)



` 

STAFF REPORT 

 

UDO 2020-12-14 

 Zoning Map Amendment for Avery Property 
 

 

PROJECT INFORMATION 

 

File Reference: UDO 2020-12-14 

Project Name:           Avery Shores 

PIN:    03-8971-00-21-2552 

   03-8971-00-30-0834 

 

Applicant:                 Avery Family Rev. Trust 

Address:  102 Avery Dr 

                         Shiloh, NC 27974 

 Phone:  252-455-1028 

 Email:  sbrad11@gmail.com 

 

Agent for Applicant:  Self  

 Address:             

 Phone:    

 Fax:   

 Email:     

 

Current Owner of Record:  Applicant 

 

Meeting Dates: 

12/9/2020  Neighborhood Meeting 

1/20/2021  Planning Board Meeting   

 Application Received: 12/10/2020 

By:  Amber Curling, Planning 

 

Application Fee paid:  $1440.00 Ck# 1 

 

Completeness of Application:  Application is 

generally complete 

 

Documents received upon filing of application 

or otherwise included: 

A. Rezoning Application  

B. Site Plan 

C. GIS Aerial, Current zoning, Comprehensive 

Plan Future Land Use and CAMA Land Use 

Plan Suitability Maps 

D. Zoning Comparison PD & WL to SR 

E. Neighborhood Meeting Comments 

F. Deed 

 

 

 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

REQUEST:  Zoning Map Amendment from Planned Development, Working Lands, and Rural 

Residential to Suburban Residential.   

 

Rezone two parcels; first parcel 03-8971-00-30-0834-0000 of approximately 52 acres from Planned 

Development (PD) and second parcel 03-8971-00-21-2552-0000 of approximately 37 acres from 

Working Lands (WL) and a Rural Residential fragment (RR) to Suburban Residential (SR).  All parcels 

are located off One Mill Rd and Riggs Rd in the Shiloh Township. 

  

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

Rezoning from the following Zoning District:   

Planned Development (PD) Purpose Statement (Article 151.3.6.3) 

The Planned Development (PD) district is established and intended to encourage innovative land 

planning and site design concepts that support a high quality of life and achieve a high quality of 

development, environmental sensitivity, energy efficiency, and other County goals and objectives by: 

• Reducing or diminishing inflexibility or uniform design that sometimes results from the strict 

application of zoning and development standards designed primarily for individual lots; 

• Allowing greater freedom in selecting the means of providing access, open space, and design 

amenities; 

• Allowing greater freedom in providing a well-integrated mix of residential and nonresidential 

land uses in the same development, including a mix of housing types, lot sizes, and densities; 

• Providing for efficient use of land resulting in smaller networks of utilities and streets and 

thereby lowering development and housing costs; and 

• Promoting quality design and environmentally sensitive development that respects surrounding 

established land use character and respects and takes advantage of a site’s natural and man-made 

features, such as trees, estuaries, shorelines, special flood hazard area, and historic features. 

 

Working Lands (WL) Purpose Statement Article 151.3.5.2) 

The Working Lands (WL) district is established to accommodate agriculture, agriculturally-related uses, 

and limited forms residential development at very low densities in rural portions of the County.  The 

district is primarily intended to preserve and protect bona fide farms and resource lands for current or 

future agricultural use as well as to protect the rural character of the area.  One of the primary tools for 

character protection is the requirement to configure residential subdivisions of more than five lots as 

conservation subdivisions.  The conservation subdivision approach seeks to minimize the visibility of 

new residential development from adjacent roadways through proper placement and screening, and 

allows farmers to capture a portion of the land’s development potential while continuing to farm.  

Conservation subdivisions allow a portion of a tract or site to be developed with single-family detached 

homes while the balance of the site is left as conservation or agricultural land.  The district also 

accommodates a wide range of agricultural and agricultural-related uses like “agri-tourism” as well as 

service and support uses to the rural community, including day care, educational uses, public safety 

facilities, parks, and utility features. 

 

  

Rezoning to the following Zoning District: 

Suburban Residential (SR) Purpose Statement (Article 151.3.5.5) 

The Suburban Residential (SR) district is the County’s primary district for suburban residential 

neighborhoods located along primary roadways, shoreline areas, and in locations bordering rural areas.  

The district has a one-acre minimum lot area requirement, which is the basic threshold size for lots with 

on-site wastewater systems.  Use of the conservation subdivision configuration is optional for residential 

subdivisions.  While the district allows single-family detached homes, mobile homes on individual lots 

are prohibited. Nonconforming mobile homes may remain but may not be expanded or replaced with 

another mobile home. The district accommodates equestrian uses, utilities, as well as various 

neighborhood-supporting institutional uses such as parks, schools, and public safety facilities.  District 

regulations discourage uses that interfere with the development of residential neighborhoods or that are 

detrimental to the suburban nature of the district 

 

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

 

SITE DATA 
 

Size of Lots:   Approximately 52 and 37 acres for an approximate total of 89 acres 

Flood Zone:   AE 

Zoning District(s):  Planned Development (PD), Working Lands (WL) and  Rural Residential  

    (RR) 

Existing Land Uses:  Farmland 

 

Adjacent Zoning & Uses: 

 North South  East West 

Zoning Working Lands (WL) Neighborhood 

Residential (NR) 

Working Lands (WL) Pasquotank 

River 

Use & size Wetlands & Farmland 

 

Residential Lots, 

Woods, Farmland 

Residential Lots,  

Wetlands & Farmland 

NA 

 

Proposed Use(s) – The proposed use is to develop 61waterfront lots, creating the Conservation 

Subdivide of Avery Shores. 

 

Description/History of property:  The vacant property is located in southern portion of Shiloh off 

Riggs Road and One Mill Road.   Majority of the property has been used as farmland; the remaining is 

wetlands and woods. 

 

INFRASTRUCTURE & COMMUNITY FACILITIES 

Water:  Water lines are located adjacent to property along One Mill Road and Riggs Road 

Sewer:  Not available. 

Fire District:  Shiloh Fire District. 

Schools:  Proposed zoning will have an impact on Schools.   

Traffic:  Proposed zoning will have impact on Traffic.  A Traffic Impact Analysis required at   

  development stage. 

  

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

PROJECT LOCATION:  Vicinity Map:  Shiloh Township 

 

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

Zoning Map: 

 

Planned 

Development 

Rural 

Residential 

Neighborhood 

Residential 

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

CAMA Land Suitability: 

 

Low Land Suitability 

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

Watershed Map  

 

Not located in Watershed 

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

Wetlands Map  

 

Wetland

s 

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

Floodplain Map                      

  

Located mainly in the AE Flood Zone 

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

ENVIRONMENTAL  ASSESSMENT:  Streams, Creeks, Major Ditches:     

Distance & description of nearest outfall:    It appears the property drains to Pasquotank River. 

 

Pasquotank River 

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map 

 

Rural 

Preservation 

Rural Residential 1 to 2 acre 

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

CAMA Future Land Use Map 

  
  

Low Density Residential 

On 1-2 acres or greater Medium 

 Density  

Residential 

Conservation 

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

   

Water is available 

 

4 inch Water Line 

3 inch Water Line 

2 inch Water Line 

3 inch Water Line 

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

   
  

Avery Property 

Shiloh 1 mile 

Buffer 

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

The goal when reviewing a project for Zoning Regulations in accordance with the Camden County Land 

Use Plans is to make sure the project is designed to: 

• to lessen congestion in the streets;  

• to secure safety from fire, panic, and other dangers; 

• to promote health and the general welfare; 

• to provide adequate light and air;  

• to prevent the overcrowding of land; 

• to avoid undue concentration of population; and  

• to facilitate the adequate provision of transportation, water, sewage, schools parks and other 

public requirements 

 

Summary 

 
CONSISTENCY with PLANS and MAPS 

 

 

2035 Comprehensive Plan 

 

 Consistent ☒  Inconsistent ☐ 

   

The County’s Comprehensive Future Land Use Map (Adopted 2012) shows the current Planned 

Development Zoning Parcel to be Village Mixed Use.  Village Mixed use areas include moderate to 

higher density mixed use including residential, commercial, and recreational uses.  The Working Lands 

are shown on the Future Land Use map as Rural Preservation.  Rural Preservation promotes the 

continued use of working lands and protection of environmentally sensitive lands from more intense 

development.   

 

CAMA Land Use Plan Policies & Objectives: 

 

 Consistent ☐  Inconsistent ☒ 

 

The CAMA Land Use Plan was adopted by the Camden County Board of Commissioners on April 4, 

2005.  The proposed zoning change is inconsistent in that the CAMA Future Land Use Maps has the 

majority of property identified as Conservation.  Small areas on the water are identified as Low Density 

Residential.  Conservation is designated to provide for effective long term management of significant 

limited or irreplaceable areas. 

  

Comprehensive Transportation Plan  

 

The Camden County Comprehensive Transportation Plan does not identify any roads as needing 

improvement or recommended for improvement south of Wharf Rd on Hwy 343 south. 

 

 Other Plans officially adopted by the Board of Commissioners 

 N/A 

  

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

SPECIFIC CAMA LAND USE QUESTIONS TO CONSIDER: 

 

1.  Does Camden County need more land in the zoning class requested?   

In Camden County 0.63% is zoned as Planned Development, 72.95% is zoned as Working Lands and 

1.79% of the property is zoned as Suburban Residential. 

 

2.  Is there other land in the county that would be more appropriate for the proposed uses?   

There is very limited waterfront property left to be developed. 

 

3.  Is the entire range of permitted uses in the requested classification more appropriate than the 

range of uses in the existing classification? 

The range of uses between Planned Development, Working Lands and Suburban Residential are similar.    

Planned Development may allow for commercial development not allowed in other two districts and the 

proposed density is established upon approval of Masterplan.  Suburban Residential allows for higher 

density than Working Lands.  The Zoning Comparison, included in the package, identifies specific uses 

for each zoning district.  

 

4.  Will the request have serious impact on traffic circulation, parking space, sewer and water 

services, other utilities?   

The proposed zoning uses will have an impact on all public facilities.  The Preliminary Plat Application 

will require a Development Impact Statement.  The Development Impact Statement is determined by the 

Physical Analysis, Housing Market Analysis Water Analysis, Sewer Analysis, Fiscal Analysis and 

Traffic Analysis. 

 

5.  Will the request have an impact on other county services, including police protection, fire 

protection or the school system? 

The proposed zoning uses will have an impact on all public services.  The specific service and to what 

extent the impact will be projected during the development approval process of the property, using 

recommendations from the Technical Review Committee. 

 

6.  Is there a good possibility that the request, as proposed, will result, as proposed, will result in 

lessening the enjoyment or use of adjacent properties?   

All permitted uses in the requested zoning classification should not lessen the enjoyment or use of any 

adjacent properties. 

 

7.  Will the request, as proposed cause serious noise, odors, light, activity, or unusual 

disturbances? 

All uses permitted in the requested zoning classification should not cause any serious noise, odors, light 

activity, or unusual disturbances. 

 

 

8.  Does the request raise serious legal questions such as spot zoning, hardship, violation of 

precedents, or need for this type of use? 

The request does not raise serious legal questions. 

 

 

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



` 

9.  Does the request impact any CAMA Areas of Environmental Concern? 

Yes the proposed development includes areas of environmental concern.  Concerns are flood zone AE, 

wetlands, and the waterfront.  The development process will include the required documentation for 

Federal, State and County; (CAMA permit, NCDEQ Erosion & Sediment Control permit, NCDEQ 

Stormwater permit, Approved County drainage plan, and any other appropriate approvals.) 

 

Recommendations: 

 

Planning Staff recommends approval of the Rezoning Application (UDO 2020- 12-14) of the Avery 

parcels on One Mill Rd and Riggs Road from Planned Development, Working Lands, and Rural 

Residential to Suburban Residential.  This recommendation is based on the 2035 Comprehensive Plan 

which identifies: (1) 52 acres as Village Mixed Use with an appropriate specific use as moderate and 

higher density residential uses (up to 14 dwellings units per acre); (2) 37 acres as Rural Preservation 

with appropriate uses of farms and forestry sites. 

  

5.B.b

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

_S
ta

ff
R

ep
o

rt
_A

ve
ry

tR
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



5.B.c

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

_Z
o

n
in

g
M

ap
A

m
en

d
m

en
tA

p
p

lic
at

io
n

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



5.B.c

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

_Z
o

n
in

g
M

ap
A

m
en

d
m

en
tA

p
p

lic
at

io
n

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



N
C

 
G

R
I
D

 
N

A
D

 
8

3
 
(
2

0
1

1
)

O

P

E

N

 

S

P

A

C

E

O

P

E

N

 

S

P

A

C

E

P

A

S

Q

U

O

T

A

N

K

 

R

I

V

E

R

R

I

G

G

S

 

R

O

A

D

O

N

E

 

M

I

L

L

 

R

O

A

D

0

SCALE 1"=200'

400'200'

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

O

P

E

N

 

S

P

A

C

E

O

P

E

N

 

S

P

A

C

E

OPEN SPACE

OPEN SPACE

OPEN SPACE

BOAT BASIN

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

45

44

43

46

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

55

56

57

58

59

60

61

C

A
N

A
L

5.B.d

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 3

_S
it

eP
la

n
  (

29
53

 :
 A

ve
ry

 S
h

o
re

s 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 R

eq
u

es
t)

jason.mizelle
Preliminary



Use	Class	/	Main	Category	/	Category "P"=Permitted,	"S"=Special	Use	Permit,	Blank=Prohibited

Camden	County,	North	Carolina
Principal	Use	Table,	District	Comparison

SRPD

Agricultural
AGRICULTURE/HORTICULTURE

All	Agriculture/	Horticulture	Uses A P

ANIMAL	HUSBANDRY

Animal	Husbandry	Uses	(excluding	stockyards	and	slaughterhouses)

Stockyard/Slaughterhouse

AGRICULTURAL	SUPPORT

Agricultural	Research	Facility P

Agri‐Education/	Agri‐Entertainment A

Distribution	Hub	for	Agriculture	Products A

Equestrian	Facility A S

Farm	Machinery	Sales,	Rental,	or	Service A

Farmers	Market A

Roadside	Market A

Residential
HOUSEHOLD	LIVING	USES

Bungalow	Court A

Duplex A

Live/Work	Dwelling A

Manufactured	Home A

Manufactured	Home	or	Mobile	Home	Park

Mobile	Home

Multi‐Family A

Pocket	Neighborhood A

Quadraplex A

Single‐Family	Attached A

Single‐Family	Detached A P

Triplex A

Upper	Story	Residential A

GROUP	LIVING

Dormitory A

Family	Care	Home A P

Group	Home A

Rooming	House A

Page	1	of	5

5.B.e

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

_Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
m

p
ar

is
io

n
 P

D
 &

 W
L

 t
o

 S
R

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



Use	Class	/	Main	Category	/	Category "P"=Permitted,	"S"=Special	Use	Permit,	Blank=Prohibited

Camden	County,	North	Carolina
Principal	Use	Table,	District	Comparison

SRPD

Institutional
COMMUNITY	SERVICES

Community	Center A

Cultural	Facility A

Library A

Museum A

Senior	Center A

Youth	Club	Facility A

DAY	CARE

Adult	Day	Care	Center A

Child	Care	Center A

EDUCATIONAL	FACILITIES

Major A

Moderate A

Minor A S

GOVERNMENT	FACILITIES

Government	Office A

Government	Maintenance,	Storage,	or	Distribution	Facility A

HEALTH	CARE	FACILITIES

Drug	or	Alcohol	Treatment	Facility A

Hospital `

Medical	Treatment	Facility A

INSTITUTIONS

Assisted	Living	Facility A

Club	or	Lodge A

Halfway	House

Nursing	Home A

Psychiatric	Treatment	Facility

Religious	Institution A

PARKS	AND	OPEN	AREAS

Cemetery A S

Community	Garden A P

Park,	Public	or	Private A S

Page	2	of	5

5.B.e

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

_Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
m

p
ar

is
io

n
 P

D
 &

 W
L

 t
o

 S
R

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



Use	Class	/	Main	Category	/	Category "P"=Permitted,	"S"=Special	Use	Permit,	Blank=Prohibited

Camden	County,	North	Carolina
Principal	Use	Table,	District	Comparison

SRPD

PUBLIC	SAFETY

Police,	Fire,	or	EMS	Facility A S

Correctional	Facility

Security	Training	Facility

TRANSPORTATION

Airport A

Helicopter	Landing	Facility A

Passenger	Terminal,	Surface	Transportation A

UTILITIES

Utility,	Major A S

Utility,	Minor A P

Commercial
ADULT	AND	SEXUALLY‐ORIENTED	BUSINESSES

All	Adult	and	Sexually‐Oriented	Businesses

ANIMAL	CARE

Major A

Minor A

EATING	ESTABLISHMENTS

Restaurant,	Major A

Restaurant,	Minor A

Bar,	Nightclub,	or	Dance	Hall A

OFFICES

Major A

Minor A

PARKING,	COMMERCIAL

All A

PERSONAL	SERVICES

Major A

Minor A

RECREATION/ENTERTAINMENT,	INDOOR

Major A

Minor A

Page	3	of	5

5.B.e

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

_Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
m

p
ar

is
io

n
 P

D
 &

 W
L

 t
o

 S
R

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



Use	Class	/	Main	Category	/	Category "P"=Permitted,	"S"=Special	Use	Permit,	Blank=Prohibited

Camden	County,	North	Carolina
Principal	Use	Table,	District	Comparison

SRPD

RECREATION/ENTERTAINMENT,	OUTDOOR

Major A

Minor A

Firing	Range

Water‐Related	Uses A

RETAIL	SALES

Flea	Market A

Grocery	Store A

Major A

Minor A

STORAGE,	COMMERCIAL

Major A

Minor A

TELECOMMUNICATIONS

Antenna	Collocation	(on	a	Building) A

Antenna	Collocation	(on	a	Tower) A

Small	Wireless	Facility A

Telecommunications	Tower,	Freestanding A

Telecommunications	Tower,	Stealth A P

VEHICLE	ESTABLISHMENT

Major A

Minor A

VISITOR	ACCOMMODATIONS

Bed	and	Breakfast A

Campground A

Hotel	or	Motel A

Industrial
EXTRACTIVE	INDUSTRY

All

INDUSTRIAL	SERVICES

Contractor	Service A

Crabshedding

Fuel	Oil	or	Bottled	Gas	Distributor

General	Industrial	Service	and	Repair A

Heavy	Equipment	Sales,	Rental,	or	Service A

Research	and	Development A

Page	4	of	5

5.B.e

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

_Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
m

p
ar

is
io

n
 P

D
 &

 W
L

 t
o

 S
R

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



Use	Class	/	Main	Category	/	Category "P"=Permitted,	"S"=Special	Use	Permit,	Blank=Prohibited

Camden	County,	North	Carolina
Principal	Use	Table,	District	Comparison

SRPD

MANUFACTURING	AND	PRODUCTION

Manufacturing,	Heavy A

Manufacturing,	Light A

POWER	GENERATION

Solar	Array A S

Wind	Energy	Conversion	Facility A

WAREHOUSE	AND	FREIGHT	MOVEMENT

All A

WASTE‐RELATED	SERVICES

Incinerator

Land	Application	of	Sludge/Septage

Landfill

Public	Convenience	Center	or	Transfer	Station

Recycling	Center A

Salvage	or	Junkyard

Waste	Composting	Facility

WHOLESALE	SALES

Major A

Minor A

Page	5	of	5

5.B.e

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

_Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
m

p
ar

is
io

n
 P

D
 &

 W
L

 t
o

 S
R

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



Use	Class	/	Main	Category	/	Category "P"=Permitted,	"S"=Special	Use	Permit,	Blank=Prohibited

Camden	County,	North	Carolina
Principal	Use	Table,	District	Comparison

SRWL

Agricultural
AGRICULTURE/HORTICULTURE

All	Agriculture/	Horticulture	Uses P P

ANIMAL	HUSBANDRY

Animal	Husbandry	Uses	(excluding	stockyards	and	slaughterhouses) P

Stockyard/Slaughterhouse

AGRICULTURAL	SUPPORT

Agricultural	Research	Facility P

Agri‐Education/	Agri‐Entertainment P

Distribution	Hub	for	Agriculture	Products P

Equestrian	Facility P S

Farm	Machinery	Sales,	Rental,	or	Service S

Farmers	Market P

Roadside	Market P

Residential
HOUSEHOLD	LIVING	USES

Bungalow	Court

Duplex

Live/Work	Dwelling S

Manufactured	Home P

Manufactured	Home	or	Mobile	Home	Park

Mobile	Home

Multi‐Family

Pocket	Neighborhood

Quadraplex

Single‐Family	Attached

Single‐Family	Detached P P

Triplex

Upper	Story	Residential

GROUP	LIVING

Dormitory

Family	Care	Home P P

Group	Home S

Rooming	House S

Page	1	of	5

5.B.e

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

_Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
m

p
ar

is
io

n
 P

D
 &

 W
L

 t
o

 S
R

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



Use	Class	/	Main	Category	/	Category "P"=Permitted,	"S"=Special	Use	Permit,	Blank=Prohibited

Camden	County,	North	Carolina
Principal	Use	Table,	District	Comparison

SRWL

Institutional
COMMUNITY	SERVICES

Community	Center

Cultural	Facility

Library

Museum

Senior	Center

Youth	Club	Facility

DAY	CARE

Adult	Day	Care	Center

Child	Care	Center P

EDUCATIONAL	FACILITIES

Major

Moderate S

Minor P S

GOVERNMENT	FACILITIES

Government	Office P

Government	Maintenance,	Storage,	or	Distribution	Facility S

HEALTH	CARE	FACILITIES

Drug	or	Alcohol	Treatment	Facility

Hospital

Medical	Treatment	Facility S

INSTITUTIONS

Assisted	Living	Facility

Club	or	Lodge S

Halfway	House

Nursing	Home

Psychiatric	Treatment	Facility

Religious	Institution S

PARKS	AND	OPEN	AREAS

Cemetery S S

Community	Garden P P

Park,	Public	or	Private P S

Page	2	of	5

5.B.e

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

_Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
m

p
ar

is
io

n
 P

D
 &

 W
L

 t
o

 S
R

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



Use	Class	/	Main	Category	/	Category "P"=Permitted,	"S"=Special	Use	Permit,	Blank=Prohibited

Camden	County,	North	Carolina
Principal	Use	Table,	District	Comparison

SRWL

PUBLIC	SAFETY

Police,	Fire,	or	EMS	Facility S S

Correctional	Facility

Security	Training	Facility

TRANSPORTATION

Airport S

Helicopter	Landing	Facility S

Passenger	Terminal,	Surface	Transportation

UTILITIES

Utility,	Major P S

Utility,	Minor P P

Commercial
ADULT	AND	SEXUALLY‐ORIENTED	BUSINESSES

All	Adult	and	Sexually‐Oriented	Businesses

ANIMAL	CARE

Major S

Minor P

EATING	ESTABLISHMENTS

Restaurant,	Major

Restaurant,	Minor

Bar,	Nightclub,	or	Dance	Hall

OFFICES

Major

Minor

PARKING,	COMMERCIAL

All

PERSONAL	SERVICES

Major

Minor

RECREATION/ENTERTAINMENT,	INDOOR

Major

Minor

Page	3	of	5

5.B.e

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

_Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
m

p
ar

is
io

n
 P

D
 &

 W
L

 t
o

 S
R

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



Use	Class	/	Main	Category	/	Category "P"=Permitted,	"S"=Special	Use	Permit,	Blank=Prohibited

Camden	County,	North	Carolina
Principal	Use	Table,	District	Comparison

SRWL

RECREATION/ENTERTAINMENT,	OUTDOOR

Major S

Minor S

Firing	Range S

Water‐Related	Uses S

RETAIL	SALES

Flea	Market

Grocery	Store

Major

Minor

STORAGE,	COMMERCIAL

Major

Minor

TELECOMMUNICATIONS

Antenna	Collocation	(on	a	Building)

Antenna	Collocation	(on	a	Tower) P

Small	Wireless	Facility P

Telecommunications	Tower,	Freestanding S

Telecommunications	Tower,	Stealth P P

VEHICLE	ESTABLISHMENT

Major

Minor

VISITOR	ACCOMMODATIONS

Bed	and	Breakfast P

Campground S

Hotel	or	Motel

Industrial
EXTRACTIVE	INDUSTRY

All S

INDUSTRIAL	SERVICES

Contractor	Service

Crabshedding

Fuel	Oil	or	Bottled	Gas	Distributor

General	Industrial	Service	and	Repair

Heavy	Equipment	Sales,	Rental,	or	Service

Research	and	Development

Page	4	of	5

5.B.e

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

_Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
m

p
ar

is
io

n
 P

D
 &

 W
L

 t
o

 S
R

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



Use	Class	/	Main	Category	/	Category "P"=Permitted,	"S"=Special	Use	Permit,	Blank=Prohibited

Camden	County,	North	Carolina
Principal	Use	Table,	District	Comparison

SRWL

MANUFACTURING	AND	PRODUCTION

Manufacturing,	Heavy

Manufacturing,	Light

POWER	GENERATION

Solar	Array S S

Wind	Energy	Conversion	Facility S

WAREHOUSE	AND	FREIGHT	MOVEMENT

All

WASTE‐RELATED	SERVICES

Incinerator

Land	Application	of	Sludge/Septage

Landfill

Public	Convenience	Center	or	Transfer	Station S

Recycling	Center S

Salvage	or	Junkyard

Waste	Composting	Facility S

WHOLESALE	SALES

Major

Minor

Page	5	of	5

5.B.e

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 4

_Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
m

p
ar

is
io

n
 P

D
 &

 W
L

 t
o

 S
R

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



  

 

 

ENGINEERING  |   DESIGN  |   TECHNOLOGY  

1805 West City Drive 

Unit E 

Elizabeth City, NC 27909 

 

P 252.621.5030 

F 252.562.6974 

www.timmons.com 

 

November 23, 2020 

 

RE: Proposed Rezoning 

 

To Whom It May Concern: 

You are receiving this notice because you own property near a parcel of land proposed for rezoning.  The 

proposed rezoning will result in one parcel being rezoned from Planned Development and another parcel 

from Working Lands to both being rezoned to Suburban Residential.  

A community meeting has been scheduled for Wednesday, December 9, 2020 at 6:00 pm in the upstairs 

courtroom of the Historic Camden County Courthouse.  At the meeting, the project will be presented to 

the community and you will have an opportunity to provide comments to the applicant and Camden 

County. 

If you are unable to attend the meeting or would like to discuss the project prior to the meeting, please 

feel free to contact me at the phone number above.  

 

Sincerely, 
 
 
  
 
 
Jason Mizelle, PLS 

 

 

 

 

5.B.f

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

_N
ei

g
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

M
ee

ti
n

g
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

29
53

 :
 A

ve
ry

 S
h

o
re

s 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 R

eq
u

es
t)



Parcel Proposed for Rezoning 

5.B.f

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

_N
ei

g
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

M
ee

ti
n

g
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

29
53

 :
 A

ve
ry

 S
h

o
re

s 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 R

eq
u

es
t)



ABODE OF CAMDEN, INC 

187 THOMAS POINT ROAD 

SHILOH, NC 27974 

 

AKBJ, LLC 

1381 S HWY 343 

SHILOH, NC 27974 

 

MARSHALL BURGESS 

1051 CHESWICK ROAD 

RICHMOND VA 23235 

 

JOHN & BRENDA COCHRAN 

187 A THOMAS POINT ROAD 

SHILOH, NC 27974 

 

LINDA & ROBERT DENNY 

217 ONE MILL ROAD 

SHILOH, NC 27974 

 

DEMPSEY FORBES 

235 ONE MILL ROAD 

SHILOH, NC 27974 

 

REGGIE FORBES 

213 ONE MILL ROAD 

SHILOH, NC 27974 

 

WILLARD FORBES 

C/O THELMA FORBES 

2012 STERLING POINT DRIVE 

PORTSMOUTH VA 23703 

 

PATRICIA & JAMES HUMBLET 

106 AVERY DRIVE 

SHILOH, NC 27974 

 

SAMUEL LEARY, JR 

1151 WHITBURN TERRACE 

CHESAPEAKE VA 23322 

 

 

 

 

MELISSA MACKAY & 

GREGORY GRANLUND 

119 RIGGS ROAD 

SHILOH, NC 27974 

 

BONNIE RIGGS 

223 ONE MILL ROAD 

SHILOH, NC 27974 

 

DWIGHT RIGGS & 

NANCY SWAIN 

700 ELDERBERRY COURT 

CHESAPEAKE VA 23320 

 

WILLIAM C. SARGENT JR 

2213 TULLS COVE RD 

WINTERVILLE, NC 28590 

 

WILLIAM M. SARGENT   

203 ONE MILL ROAD 

SHILOH, NC 27974 6227 

 

NICHOLAS & CRYSTAL WILLIAMS 

211 ONE MILL ROAD 

SHILOH, NC 27974 

 

C/O AMBER CURLING 
CAMDEN COUNTY PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

PO BOX 74 

CAMDEN, NC 27921  

 

STEVEN BRADSHAW 

102 AVERY DRIVE 

SHILOH, NC 27974 

 

5.B.f

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

_N
ei

g
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

M
ee

ti
n

g
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

29
53

 :
 A

ve
ry

 S
h

o
re

s 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 R

eq
u

es
t)



 

 

ENGINEERING  |   DESIGN  |   TECHNOLOGY  

1805 West City Drive 

Unit E 

Elizabeth City, NC 27909 

 

 

P 252.621.5030 
F 252.562.6974 

www.timmons.com 

 

 
 
COMMUNITY MEETING REPORT FOR AVERY FAMILY TURST 

  

Project:  Rezoning 88.8-Acres on Riggs Road 
Facilitator: Jason Mizelle – Timmons Group 
Date & Time: December 9, 2020 @ 6:00 PM 
Location: Historic Camden Court House 
 
In preparation for the Community Meeting, eighteen notices were mailed out notifying the adjoining 
property owners & the County Staff about the meeting.  Five Camden residents attended, most of whom 
resided along the One Mill Road side of the project.  Also, in attendance were Amber Curling of the 
Camden County Planning Department, Steve Bradshaw & Preston Avery (applicants) as well as Jason 
Mizelle of Timmons Group. 

I opened the meeting with an explanation of the rezoning process and what specifically the applicants 
were looking to do with the property, if approved.  Having the meeting early in the review process gives 
the developer and the design professionals time to analyze comments, address concerns and possibly 
make changes.  I explained that we were at the very beginning of the process and there was a long way 
to go in order to see a project like this to fruition. 

Steve Bradshaw, one of the applicants, then reviewed in detail the thought process behind the type of 
development being sought and why the change from the PUD & Working Lands designations to 
Suburban Residential was more befitting of the property and its proximity to the water.  

Much of the question and answers with those in attendance centered around the timing of the project and 
when construction might commence. It was relayed that the project would likely not start construction for a 
year and even then it would be phased construction. 

Other items discussed were in relation to some of the current property use encroachments of the 
residences along One Mill Road and that it was the applicants desire to convey that portion of the parcel 
that would make up the area in use, so as to have those residents not have to relocate or modify any 
improvements made. It was explained that the sliver of land in question was not being included in our 
project limits or calculations. 

Mr. Bradshaw reviewed the concept plan in further detail to highlight the areas adjacent to the residents in 
attendance parcels and to discuss the hopes that the inclusion of canal connections to the river would aid 
in some of the drainage woes that were currently occurring in that area. 

The meeting was concluded at 7:00 pm as there were no further questions or discussion. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

Jason A. Mizelle, PLS 
Timmons Group 
 
 
Cc Camden County Planning 

5.B.f

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

_N
ei

g
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

M
ee

ti
n

g
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

29
53

 :
 A

ve
ry

 S
h

o
re

s 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 R

eq
u

es
t)



5.B.f

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 5

_N
ei

g
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

M
ee

ti
n

g
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
  (

29
53

 :
 A

ve
ry

 S
h

o
re

s 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 R

eq
u

es
t)



5.B.g

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

_D
ee

d
  (

29
53

 :
 A

ve
ry

 S
h

o
re

s 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 R

eq
u

es
t)



5.B.g

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

_D
ee

d
  (

29
53

 :
 A

ve
ry

 S
h

o
re

s 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 R

eq
u

es
t)



5.B.g

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

_D
ee

d
  (

29
53

 :
 A

ve
ry

 S
h

o
re

s 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 R

eq
u

es
t)



5.B.g

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 6

_D
ee

d
  (

29
53

 :
 A

ve
ry

 S
h

o
re

s 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 R

eq
u

es
t)



 

Ordinance No. 2021-03-01 

An Ordinance  

Amending the Camden County  

Zoning Map  

Camden County, North Carolina 

Article I: Purpose 

The purpose of this Ordinance is to amend the Zoning Map of Camden County, North 

Carolina, which was originally adopted by the County Commissioners on December 

20, 1993, and revised February 4, 2019 and subsequently amended. 

Article II. Amendment to Zoning Map 

The Official Zoning Map of Camden County, North Carolina, which was adopted 

on December 20, 1993, and revised February 4, 2019 and subsequently amended, is 

hereby amended as follows: 

The parcels of property currently shown in the Camden County Tax 

Assessor's Office as PIN 03-8971-00-30-0834-0000 of approximately 52 acres 

from Planned Development (PD) and 03-8971-00-21-2552-0000, of approximately 

37 acres from Working Lands (WL) and a Rural Residential (RR) to Suburban 

Residential (SR). 

Article III. Penalty 

1. Violations of the provision of this Ordinance or failure to comply with any of its 

Requirements, including violations of any conditions and safeguards established in 

connection with grants of variances or Special Use or Conditional Use Permits, 

shall constitute a misdemeanor, punishable by a fine of up to five-hundred ($500) 

dollars or a maximum thirty (30) days imprisonment as provided in G. S. 14-4. 

2. Any act constituting a violation of the provisions of this Ordinance or a failure to 

comply with any of its requirements, including violations of any conditions and 

safeguards established in connection with the grants of variances or Special Use or 

Conditional Use Permits, shall also subject the offender to a civil penalty of one-

5.B.h

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 7

_O
rd

in
an

ce
F

o
rA

ve
ry

R
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



hundred ($100) dollars for each day the violation continues. If the offender fails to 

pay the penalty within ten (10) days after being cited for a violation, the 

5.B.h

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 7

_O
rd

in
an

ce
F

o
rA

ve
ry

R
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



penalty may be recovered by the county in a civil action in the nature of debt. A 

civil penalty may not be appealed to the Board of Adjustment if the offender was 

sent a final notice of violation in accordance with Article 151.568 and did not take 

an appeal to the Board of Adjustment within the prescribed time. 

3. This Ordinance may also be enforced by any appropriate equitable action. 

4. Each day that any violation continues after notification by the administrator that 

such violation exists shall be considered a separate offense for purposes of the 

penalties and remedies specified in this section. 

5. Any one, all or any combination of the foregoing penalties and remedies may be 

used to enforce this Ordinance. 

Article IV. Severability 

If any language in this Ordinance is found to be invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction or other entity having such legal authority, then only the specific language 

held to be invalid shall be affected and all other language shall be in full force and effect. 

Article V. Effective Date 

This Ordinance is effective upon adoption. 

Adopted by the Board of Commissioners for the County of Camden this 5th day of 

April, 2021. 

 

ATTEST: 

 Tom White, Chairman 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

Karen M. Davis 

Clerk to the Board of Commissioners 

 

 

5.B.h

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 7

_O
rd

in
an

ce
F

o
rA

ve
ry

R
ez

o
n

in
g

  (
29

53
 :

 A
ve

ry
 S

h
o

re
s 

R
ez

o
n

in
g

 R
eq

u
es

t)



 
 

RESOLUTION 2021-04-01 

 

AUTHORIZING AN AMENDMENT TO THE COASTAL AREA MANAGEMENT AGENCY 

CORE LAND USE PLAN 

 

 WHEREAS, the County desires to amend its 2005 CAMA Core Land Use Plan, specifically the 

Future Land Use Map, to designate approximately 82 acres of the Future Land Use Map from 

Conservation, to 82 acres to Low Density Residential to accommodate a rezoning request from Planned 

Development (PD), Working Lands (WL) and Rural Residential (RR) to Suburban Residential (SR) for 

development of a waterfront residential development; (Exhibit 1) and  

  

 WHEREAS, on January 21, 2021 the Planning Board unanimously recommended rezoning and 

related adoption of the draft amendment to the CAMA Core Land Use Plan; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the County conducted a duly advertised public hearing on the draft amendment to 

the CAMA Core Land Use Plan at the Regular Meeting of the Board of Commissioners on April 5, 2021; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the amendment to the Future Land Use Map has been evaluated for its consistency 

with other existing policies and no internal inconsistencies exist; and  

 

WHEREAS, the amendment is consistent with the currently approved North Carolina Coastal 

Management Program and the rules of the Coastal Resources Commission; and 

 

 WHEREAS, a review of the Implementation Policies indicates that this project and request is 

consistent with 25 of the Land Use Policies – specifically Policy 3 “Camden County supports the 

frequency of shoreline access as defined by 15A NCAC 7M, Section .0300, Shorefront Access Policies.  

However, emphasis will be placed on providing access to the Great Dismal Swamp and the Shiloh 

Township area.”; and  

 

WHEREAS, the amendment does not violate any state or federal laws. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Board of Commissioners of Camden 

County, North Carolina, has adopted the draft CAMA Core Land Use Plan amendment to amend its 2005 

CAMA Core Land Use Plan, specifically the Future Land Use Map, to designate approximately 82 acres 

of the Future Land Use Map from Conservation to Low Density Residential; and 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Manager of Camden County is hereby 

authorized to submit the adopted CAMA Core Land Use Plan amendment to the State for certification as 

described above. 

 

Adopted this 5th day of April 2021. 

       ATTEST: 

 

             

Tom White, Chairman     Karen M. Davis 

Camden County Board of Commissioners  Clerk to the Board of Commissioners 

5.B.i

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

_C
A

M
A

_L
U

P
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
  (

29
53

 :
 A

ve
ry

 S
h

o
re

s 
R

ez
o

n
in

g
 R

eq
u

es
t)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 6.A 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Lisa Anderson 

 
Item Title   February Monthly Report 

 

Attachments: Feb. 2021 monthly report (PDF) 

 

Summary:  February Monthly Report  

 

Recommendation:  Review and approve 

6.A

Packet Pg. 81



6.A.a

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

eb
. 2

02
1 

m
o

n
th

ly
 r

ep
o

rt
  (

29
56

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
)



6.A.a

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

eb
. 2

02
1 

m
o

n
th

ly
 r

ep
o

rt
  (

29
56

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
)



6.A.a

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

eb
. 2

02
1 

m
o

n
th

ly
 r

ep
o

rt
  (

29
56

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
)



6.A.a

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

eb
. 2

02
1 

m
o

n
th

ly
 r

ep
o

rt
  (

29
56

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
)



6.A.a

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

eb
. 2

02
1 

m
o

n
th

ly
 r

ep
o

rt
  (

29
56

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
)



6.A.a

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

eb
. 2

02
1 

m
o

n
th

ly
 r

ep
o

rt
  (

29
56

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
)



6.A.a

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

eb
. 2

02
1 

m
o

n
th

ly
 r

ep
o

rt
  (

29
56

 :
 T

ax
 R

ep
o

rt
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 6.B 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Lisa Anderson 

 
Item Title   Board of Equalization and Review Board 

 

Attachments:  

 

Summary:  Pursuant to G.S. 105-322(c), the hearing dates for the 2021 Board of 

Equalization and Review need to be set in order to advertise the appropriate time. 

 

Recommendation:  Convene-May 3, 2021 

          Adjourn-June 7, 2021 

6.B

Packet Pg. 89



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 6.C 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Lisa Anderson 

 
Item Title   Advertisement of Liens on Real Property 

 

Attachments: Lien ad for meeting 2020 (PDF) 

 

Summary:  Pursuant to G. S. 105-369(a), the Tax Administrator must report to the County 

Commissioners the total amount of unpaid taxes for the current fiscal year that are liens on real 

property. 

 

Pursuant to G. S. 105-369(c), the County Commissioners need to set the date for advertising the 

tax lien for real property. 

 

Recommendation: 

1.  Motion to accept the attached report from the Tax Administrator that, as of March 25, 2021 

the total amount of unpaid taxes for the current fiscal year that are liens on Real Property is 

$271,126.93 and that this figure shall change over time with collections and releases. 

 

2.  Motion to set the 2020 tax liens on Real Property advertising date of April 30, 2021. 

6.C

Packet Pg. 90



6.C.a

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ie
n

 a
d

 f
o

r 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 2
02

0 
 (

29
62

 :
 A

d
ve

rt
is

em
en

t 
o

f 
L

ie
n

s 
o

n
 R

ea
l P

ro
p

er
ty

)



6.C.a

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ie
n

 a
d

 f
o

r 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 2
02

0 
 (

29
62

 :
 A

d
ve

rt
is

em
en

t 
o

f 
L

ie
n

s 
o

n
 R

ea
l P

ro
p

er
ty

)



6.C.a

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ie
n

 a
d

 f
o

r 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 2
02

0 
 (

29
62

 :
 A

d
ve

rt
is

em
en

t 
o

f 
L

ie
n

s 
o

n
 R

ea
l P

ro
p

er
ty

)



6.C.a

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ie
n

 a
d

 f
o

r 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 2
02

0 
 (

29
62

 :
 A

d
ve

rt
is

em
en

t 
o

f 
L

ie
n

s 
o

n
 R

ea
l P

ro
p

er
ty

)



6.C.a

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ie
n

 a
d

 f
o

r 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 2
02

0 
 (

29
62

 :
 A

d
ve

rt
is

em
en

t 
o

f 
L

ie
n

s 
o

n
 R

ea
l P

ro
p

er
ty

)



6.C.a

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ie
n

 a
d

 f
o

r 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 2
02

0 
 (

29
62

 :
 A

d
ve

rt
is

em
en

t 
o

f 
L

ie
n

s 
o

n
 R

ea
l P

ro
p

er
ty

)



6.C.a

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ie
n

 a
d

 f
o

r 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 2
02

0 
 (

29
62

 :
 A

d
ve

rt
is

em
en

t 
o

f 
L

ie
n

s 
o

n
 R

ea
l P

ro
p

er
ty

)



6.C.a

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ie
n

 a
d

 f
o

r 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 2
02

0 
 (

29
62

 :
 A

d
ve

rt
is

em
en

t 
o

f 
L

ie
n

s 
o

n
 R

ea
l P

ro
p

er
ty

)



6.C.a

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ie
n

 a
d

 f
o

r 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 2
02

0 
 (

29
62

 :
 A

d
ve

rt
is

em
en

t 
o

f 
L

ie
n

s 
o

n
 R

ea
l P

ro
p

er
ty

)



6.C.a

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ie
n

 a
d

 f
o

r 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 2
02

0 
 (

29
62

 :
 A

d
ve

rt
is

em
en

t 
o

f 
L

ie
n

s 
o

n
 R

ea
l P

ro
p

er
ty

)



6.C.a

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ie
n

 a
d

 f
o

r 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 2
02

0 
 (

29
62

 :
 A

d
ve

rt
is

em
en

t 
o

f 
L

ie
n

s 
o

n
 R

ea
l P

ro
p

er
ty

)



6.C.a

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

ie
n

 a
d

 f
o

r 
m

ee
ti

n
g

 2
02

0 
 (

29
62

 :
 A

d
ve

rt
is

em
en

t 
o

f 
L

ie
n

s 
o

n
 R

ea
l P

ro
p

er
ty

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 6.D 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Finance Policies & Procedures - Ken Bowman 

 

Attachments: FinancePoliciesProcedures FINAL Updated 033031 

Bowman approved (PDF) 

Financial Policies Resolution 2007-05-04 (PDF) 

Petty Cash Resolution 5-1-2017 (PDF) 

Travel Policy  approved  09-2019 (PDF) 

CAMDEN COUNTY PURCHASING CARD 

AGREEMENT.docx (PDF) 

 

Summary: 
The Camden County Financial Policy was reviewed and updated based on numerous changes in 

state law and local administrative operating procedures. This policy assessment and rewrite was a 

cover-to-cover review conducted totally by in-house staff.  

 

Recommendation: 

Approval. 

6.D

Packet Pg. 103



 
 
 
 

        CAMDEN COUNTY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL POLICIES 
      AND 

PROCEDURES MANUAL 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



- 2 - | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
Table of Contents           2 
Section 1 Introduction         4 
1-1 Finance Office          4 

1-1.1 Introduction         4 
1-1.2 Authority          4 
1-1.3 Major activities of the Finance Office       4 

1-2 Overview           4 
1-2.1 Purpose          4 
1-2.2 Applicability          4 
1-2.3 Employee and Officials Responsibility      4 
1-2.4 Penalties          5 

1-3 Definitions           5 
Section 2 Accounts Payable         7 
2-1 General            7 
2-2 Funding Source          7 
2-3 Normal Processing of Checks        7 
2-4 Holiday Processing of Checks        7 
2-5 Normal Disbursement of Checks        7 
2-6 Lost or Missing Vendor Checks        7 
2-7 Travel Reimbursement         7  
2-8 Petty Cash           8 
2-9 To Submit an Invoice for Payment        8 
2-10 W9/1099 Information          8 
2-11 Requisitions, Purchase Orders & Credit Card Purchasing    8 

2-11.1 Requisitions          8 
2-11.2 Purchases          9 
2-11.3 Credit Card Purchases        9 

2-12 Policy on Unusual Purchases        9 
2-13 Floral Policy           9 
2-14 Luncheons/Gifts for County Employees       9 
2-15 Unclaimed Property & Escheat Procedures      10 
Section 3 Cash Receipts & Accounts Receivable      11 
3-1 General            11 
3-2 Deposits           11 
3-3 Safeguarding of Assets         12 
3-4 Endorsement           12 
3-5 Returned Checks          12 
Section 4 Budget           13 
4-1 General            13 
4-2 Annual Budget Adoption Process       13 
4-3 Department Requests          13 
4-4 Payroll Budget Monitoring and Adjustments      13  
4-5 Budget Change Request         13 
4-6 To Complete the Budget Change Request Form      14 
 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



- 3 - | P a g e  
 

Section 5 Capital Assets          15 
5-1 Control            15 
5-2 Records            15 

5-2.1 Controlled Fixed Asset Policy       15 
 
5-3 Disposition           16 

5-3.1 Surplus Property         16 
5-3.2 Lost/Stolen Property         16 
5-3.3 Interdepartmental Transfers       16 
5-3.4 Transfers to Enterprise        16 

Section 6 Payroll           17 
6-1 General            17 
6-2 Pay Day            17 
6-3 Pay Period           17 
6-4 Overtime           17 
6-5 Time Reporting          17 
6-6 Direct Deposits           17 
6-7 Payroll Deductions          17 
6-8 Pay Adjustments          18 
6-9 Gifts, Prizes, and Awards         18 
6-10 Garnishments           18 
6-11 Lost Paychecks          18 
6-12 Final Paychecks          18 
6-13 Payroll Reports          18 
6-14 Verification of Employment         18 
Section 7 Additional Policies         19 
7-1 Resolution of the Camden County Board of Commissioners    19 

Regarding Setting Financial Policies        
7-2 Resolution to Establish Petty Cash Funds       19  
7-3 Camden County Travel Policy        19 
7-4 Credit Card Policy          19

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



4 | P a g e  
 

Section 1 Introduction 
 
1-1 Finance Office 
 
1-1.01 Introduction 
 
The Finance Office is responsible for establishing and maintaining the financial activity of the County in 
compliance with generally accepted accounting principles and state law. The duties of the office are to establish 
and maintain the accounting records, disburse moneys, make financial reports, manage the receipt and deposit 
of moneys, manage the county’s debt service obligation, supervise investments and perform any other assigned 
duties. Additionally, the department assists in preparing the annual budget for the County. 
 
1-1.02 Authority 
 
The Chairman and the Board of County Commissioners are responsible for legislation, policy formulation, and 
overall direction setting of the government. This includes the approval of financial policies which establish and 
direct the operations of Camden County. The County Manager is responsible for carrying out the policy directives 
of the Board of Commissioners and managing the day-to-day operations of the county departments. 
 
Camden County Board of Commissioners adopted a Financial Policy Resolution (2007-05-04). 
 
1-1.03 Major activities of the Finance Office include 
 
Preparation of the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report in accordance with generally accepted reporting 
standards and coordination of the annual audit by independent certified public accountants; 
 
Provision of centralized accounting services for all county departments consisting of debt management, accounts 
payable, payroll preparation and administration, and the recording of all financial activity in accordance with 
federal and state agencies and generally accepted accounting principles; 
 
Forecasting of cash needs and investment of idle funds to maximize earnings while focusing on the objectives 
of safety, liquidity and yield; and, 
 
Preparation and daily administration of the annual operating budget for the County under the conditions of the 
Local Government Budget and Fiscal Control Act. 
 
1-2 Overview 
 
1-2.01 Purpose 
 
The intent of this policy is to provide Camden County departments, agencies, officials and employees with a 
guideline for payment and reimbursement of expenditures pertaining to official county business. 
 
1-2.02 Applicability 
 
All employees and officials of the County are subject to this policy. The effective date of this policy is April 1, 
2021 and supersedes all previous versions. 
 
1-2.03 Employee and Officials Responsibility 
 
County department heads and their delegate(s), officials, or other appointed boards may approve expenditures 
incurred by their department or agency rendering services to the taxpayers of the County. Under no 
circumstances may duplicate reimbursement be made for that portion of a department’s, agencies or employee 
expenses paid or reimbursed from a non-County source. The county will not reimburse any expenses that are 
personal in nature as a result of combining County business or travel with personal business or travel. 
 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



5 | P a g e  
 

An employee or official is expected to exercise the same care in incurring expenses that a prudent person would 
exercise if purchasing for personal use and using personal funds. Employees and officials will be held personally 
responsible for unauthorized costs and additional expenses incurred for personal preference or convenience. 
 
1-2.04 Penalties 
 
Violations of this policy can result in disciplinary action up to and including dismissal. GS 159-181 states that 
any county employee or official of a local government who submits a written claim for funds that he/she knows 
to be false is guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 
1-3 Definitions 
 
Agency: Any County agency, department, commission, board, or other organization operating from funds 
deposited with the County. 
 
Authorizing Party: An individual authorized by this policy or by a department head to approve or disapprove 
requests for invoice payment, purchase orders, travel advances, travel reimbursements, etc. 
 
Budget: The adopted plan for raising and spending money for specified programs, functions, activities or objects 
for the current fiscal year as adopted or amended by the County Commissioners. 
 
Check: A negotiable instrument drawn against deposited funds, to pay a specified amount of money to the payee. 
 
Check Cycle: The County processes checks on a weekly basis, dispersing the checks on Friday. 
 
Check Request Form: See Payment Request form. 
 
Common Carrier: Commercially scheduled airplane rail, bus, or taxi. 
 
Commuting: Travel from home to work or from work to home. 
 
Conference: Formal gathering to conduct business and exchange information for which registration fees may be 
paid. 
 
County: Camden County 
 
County Employee: Any employee, temporary or regular, who is paid through the County payroll system. 
 
County Funds: Any funds deposited with the County, whether derived from appropriations or agency receipts. 
 
Credit Card: See Procurement Card. 
 
Department Head: Any person who oversees and is responsible for the entire operation of a department. The 
department head may delegate the duties in this policy to other responsible persons. See Authorizing Party. 
 
Duty Station: The job location at which the employee spends the majority of his or her working hours or the point 
at which the majority of travel begins. 
 
Employee: See County Employee. 
 
Excess Expenses/Costs: Any expenditure/cost that exceeds the limitations set forth in this policy. 
 
Expenditures: Money (Funds) spent (disbursed) in the payment of an obligation of the County. 
 
Holidays: Days that Board of Commissioners designated as holidays with pay for employees and officers of the 
county working the basic work week. 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



6 | P a g e  
 

 
Incidentals: Fees and tips given to porters, baggage carriers, bellhops and hotel staff. 
 
Meeting: Informal gathering to conduct business and exchange information for which registration fees may or 
may not be paid. 
 
Non-County Employees: A person or persons whose compensation is paid from a general expenditure account 
rather than through a payroll system generated check. 
 
Officials: People holding positions of appointment or election with the County, including members of boards, 
commissions and elected officials. 
 
Other Expenses: Refers to a line item where expenses not otherwise categorized should be recorded. 
 
Out of State Travel: Travel outside the boundaries of the State of North Carolina. Requires County Manager 
approval. 
 
Personal Vehicle Mileage: The use of personal vehicle by an employee or official where a County vehicle is 
unavailable for use while in official travel. 
 
Petty Cash: A small amount of cash kept by the department to be used to cover small everyday expenses. 
 
Procurement Card: A credit card provided by the county used for purchase of goods and materials required by 
the County and authorized travel expenditures. 
 
Prospective Employee: An individual who has applied for a position with the county.  
 
Request for Payment Form: A form for requesting payment or reimbursement. 
 
Submittal Deadlines: Requests for payment or reimbursement Due Date. Any request for payment or 
Reimbursements after this time and day will be paid the following check cycle. 
 
Subsistence: Cost of lodging and meals while the official or employee is engaged in official travel. 
 
Transportation Expenses: Includes personal automobile, taxi, bus, train, airplane, motor pool charges, auto 
rentals, tolls and parking fees. 
 
Travel: All activities involving expenses for transportation, subsistence, and registration, which are authorized to 
be paid from County funds or which involve County vehicles for transportation for in/out of County travel. 
 
Travel Period: The time spent away from the duty station on County business. 
 
Vendor(s): A business or individual that provides a service or product. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



7 | P a g e  
 

Section 2 Accounts Payable 
 
2-1 General 
 
The County operates using the principle of budget allocations to individual departments. Department heads are 
responsible for expenditures of this allocation. All County expenditures should conform to all applicable State 
and Federal laws and regulations as well as reflect prudent management practices. 
 
All County expenditures must be reasonable and necessary for carrying out the programs and activities of the 
County.   
 
2-2 Funding Source 
 
No contract or agreement requiring the payment of moneys, nor any requisition or purchase order for supplies, 
materials, equipment or services may be made unless an appropriation appears in the budget. It is the 
responsibility of the department to verify that funds are available before submitting a purchase requisition. When 
a question arises about the proper form or documentation required by Accounts Payable, contact the Finance 
Office for assistance. 
 
2-3 Normal Processing of Checks 
 
The County prepares checks on a weekly basis. Invoices are due in the Finance Office no later than Tuesday at 
12:00 Noon for weekly processing with the check available for distribution on the following Friday. The Finance 
Office encourages invoices be submitted regularly during the week instead of held until Tuesday. 
 
Failure to submit the proper documentation (an invoice with PO # if applies), incorrect coding or insufficient 
paperwork will delay check issuance. If you email an invoice over, do not send an additional paper copy. Approval         
by a department head or their designee is required for any invoice payment.  
 
2-4 Holiday Processing of Checks 
 
When a holiday occurs, an email will be sent stating when invoices are due or if no checks will be written for that 
week. As the end of the fiscal year approaches, departments need to pay very close attention to account 
balances.  
 
2-5 Normal Disbursement of Checks 
 
Vendor checks are mailed each Friday. Vendors should be discouraged from calling the Finance Office to request 
early disbursements. Early disbursements will only be approved for emergency situations. 
 
2-6 Lost or missing Vendor Checks 
 
When a vendor has not received their check within a reasonable time frame, the funding department should call 
the Finance Office who will contact the bank to find out the status of the check. If the check is lost, a stop payment 
will be placed on the original check and a new check prepared during the next issuance of checks.  
 
2-7 Travel Reimbursement 
 
Local travel expenses will be reimbursed a maximum of once each month and should be submitted on a Travel 
Report accompanied by appropriate approvals and supporting documentation. Special consideration for 
reimbursement in the next check write will be given to employees incurring substantial out-of-pocket 
expenditures that create hardships. 
 
Please see Section 7 the Camden County Travel Policy for a more detailed explanation. 
 
The County should pay registration fees directly to the vendor. If there is an unforeseen deadline and with the 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 110

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



8 | P a g e  
 

approval of the Finance Officer or Deputy Finance Officer, the employee can pay the vendor directly and submit 
the canceled check, or credit card slip and appropriate documentation on the regular Travel Report. The 
Department should provide a procurement card for all out-county travel. 
 
2-8 Petty Cash 
 
A Petty Cash Fund is established in the Tax Department, with receipt or documentation and department head 
approval, funds up to $20 can be reimbursed.  
 
2-9 To Submit an Invoice for Payment 
 
Invoices submitted to the Finance Office for payment must be accompanied by either a completed Purchase 
Order, or Request for Payment Form, or imprinted with the Request for Payment Stamp (I hereby certify that the 
attached receipt for goods and services have been received and are in good order except otherwise stated). If a 
Purchase Order is attached, please place the invoice on top of the Purchase order so the invoice can be easily 
identified. 
 
2-10 W9/1099 Information  
 
When purchasing from a new vendor you should always require a completed W-9 to obtain the vendor’s name, 
address and the taxpayer identification number.  The vendor will be required to complete a W-9 form and return 
to you.  Email this information to the Finance Office and a vendor number will be assigned.  Vendors not returning 
a W-9 are subject to withholding on payments.   
 
1099's are information returns similar to form W-2 that are sent to vendors annually and are required as follows: 

• Payments totaling more than $600.00 annually 
• Payments for: Rent, Non-Employee Compensation, Medical payments 
• 1099s are not required for corporations, local governments, non-profits, etc. 

 
2-11 Requisitions, Purchase Orders & Credit Card Purchasing  
 
2.11.1 Requisitions  
 
GS 159-28 states: “No obligation may be incurred in a program, function or activity accounted for in a fund 
included in the budget ordinance unless the budget ordinance includes an appropriation authorizing the 
obligation and an unencumbered balance remains in the appropriation sufficient to pay in the current fiscal year 
the sums obligated by the transaction.”  Also, “Disbursements - When a bill, invoice, or other claim against a 
local government or public authority is presented, the finance officer shall either approve or disapprove the 
necessary disbursement.  A bill, invoice, or other claim may not be paid unless it has been approved by the 
finance officer or, under subsection(c) of this section, by the governing board.” 
 
Based on the above statute the procedures set up in Camden County require all purchases over $500.00 must 
first obtain a purchase order to ensure the above items are satisfied.  By obtaining a purchase order and 
submitting a requisition for approval, the funds are encumbered for this purchase and it ensures the obligation 
will be met.  Any purchase made over $500.00 without a purchase order is under no obligation of the County 
unless the Finance Officer or Governing Board approves.   
 
The following are items to remember when entering a requisition on the System: 

• Requisitions must be completed prior to purchase. Requisitions are converted to purchase orders weekly.  
• Everything typed on the requisition follows through on the purchase order, invoice entry, check stub, and 

check register. 
 

• Vendor numbers are required to be created prior to this process. If it is a new vendor, be sure get the 
Finance office a W9 in order for new vendors to be set up. Purchase Orders cannot be converted until 
the new vendor has been activated.   

 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 111

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



9 | P a g e  
 

The requisition must be released after it is finalized. 
 
If a requisition is started and you decide not to use it, it needs to be deleted. If it isn’t deleted it will show up on 
your inquiry in the requisition amount and those funds will not be available. 
 
Ensure bidding laws for purchases of apparatus, supplies, materials and equipment are met.   
 
Office supplies are purchased by each department but must be coordinated with the Finance office to obtain the 
best possible price. 
 
Purchases in excess of the budgeted appropriation are not allowed. A pre-audit by the Finance Officer is required 
for all expenditures. Any employee or County official causing the payment or obligation of public funds before it 
has been appropriated will become personally liable for the expenditure and could lead to immediate dismissal.  
 
2-11.2 Purchases  
 
A purchase order is created from requisitions, numbered and printed in the Finance Office and returned to the 
Department Head.  The total amount of the purchase order is encumbered to the object line of the department’s 
budget.  When the Department head receives the approved copy of the Purchase Order he/she may either make 
the purchase or forward a copy of the purchase order to the vendor.  When the merchandise is received, please 
notify the Finance Office with an email, signed invoice or noting the date received and signing the Purchase 
order approving payment.  If the invoice for the purchase goes to your department please forward to the Finance 
Office. Also, make sure your Purchase Order number is written on the invoice.  
 
Invoices for purchases under $500: Sign the invoice if you received the merchandise and write the correct line-
item code on the invoice or receipt.  If reimbursement is required be sure to state on the invoice or receipt to 
whom the check should be written.  If the receipt is less than 8.5x11 please tape it to a blank sheet of paper and 
state why the purchase was made. Department Head signature is required for payment. 
 
 2-11.3 Credit Card Purchases  
 
Electronic Procurement (Credit) Cards (VISA, Lowes, etc.) and Gas Cards are issued on an as needed basis 
and coordinated by the Finance Office. The Board adopted Electronic Payments Resolution 2018-04-05 that 
authorizes paying for purchases using electronic form of payment. All purchasing procedures apply to credit 
cards. All employees must sign a use agreement outlining additional procedural requirements. (See Attached 
Form) 
 
2-12 Policy on Unusual Purchases 
 
Questions concerning purchases that do not fall under usual policies or for items not listed in the Chart of 
Accounts should be referred to the Finance Office for guidance unless covered by one of the following 
illustrations. 
 
2-13 Floral Policy 
 
Flowers may be purchased for the illness of a Commissioner, death of a Commissioner, death of a county 
employee, or death of the spouse or child of either will be paid or reimbursed by the County. 
 
Flowers purchased for any other reason will not be paid and or reimbursed. 
 
2-14 Luncheons/Gifts for County Employees 
 
Camden County does not authorize the purchase of gift cards for any reason. Any exceptions to this policy must 
be approved by the County Manager. The procedure would include notification to the Finance Officer of the intent 
to purchase the gift card and County Manager approval should accompany the receipt when submitted to finance 
for payment of the invoice. Department Heads who wish to conduct reward programs for staff or other county 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 112

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



10 | P a g e  
 

offerings may request donations from vendors of gift cards for their business (with notification to the County 
Manager of this intent) but may not request monetary donations or cash gift cards without County Manager 
approval. Cash donations must follow the cash receipts policy. 
 
2-15 Unclaimed Property & Escheat Procedures 
 
In accordance with NC General Statute 116.B all checks written by Camden County and any unclaimed property 
will be properly escheated to the NC State Treasurer according to their policy and procedures. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 113

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



11 | P a g e  
 

Section 3 Cash Receipts & Accounts Receivable 
 
3-1 General 
 
The Finance Office serves as a depository for cash receipts collected by other departments and also makes 
deposits for several County departments. The Cash Receipts and Accounts Receivable section is responsible 
for the crediting of receipts to proper revenue codes. 
 
3-2 Deposits 
 
State law requires that a deposit be made daily. Departments with collections can maintain compliance with 
applicable state law by making deposits or by bringing their deposit to the Finance Office, no later than noon, for 
inclusion with the Office’s daily deposit. 
 
The deposit from the Finance Office is made daily at 2 pm; any deposit received after that time will be deposited 
the next business day. Departments that make their own deposit should forward the validated deposit slip to the 
Finance Office as soon as possible for credit to the appropriate revenue line item. 
 
See below department instructions:  
 
EACH DEPARTMENT IS RESPONSIBLE FOR SEPARATION OF DUTIES BETWEEN THOSE WHO DEPOSIT 
& POST PAYMENTS AND THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE TO OPEN MAIL. 
 
Finance Office: 
Revenues received from other departments (Parks & Recreation, Senior Center, Planning, Inspections, Elections 
and Extension) are received and deposited daily.  Mail is received and opened by Human Resources or the 
Finance Officer, checks are stamped “For Deposit Only” and deposit is made at end of day.  
 
Register of Deeds: 
As cash or checks are collected a duplicate cash register receipt is generated.  Customer gets one and one is 
kept on file. Checks are stamped with “For Deposit Only” at time of receipt.  The transaction, date, etc. is printed 
on the receipt.  Collections are also recorded in a receipt log as well.  When receipts amount to $250 a deposit 
is made and the duplicate deposit slip is turned into the Finance Office. A report is turned in to the Finance Office 
at the end of the month with a breakdown of the revenues. There is a $100 change fund. 
 
Sheriff: 
Duplicate deposit slips are turned into the Finance Office daily.  Checks are marked “For Deposit Only” as 
received.  
 
Senior Center: 
When fees are received they are turned into the Finance Office daily.  If cash is paid, a receipt is hand written, if 
by check, the check is their receipt. 
 
Parks and Recreation: 
Monies are received when they do a registration for participation.  Receipts are hand written and the funds are 
turned into the Finance Office by the end of the day. 
 
Social Services: 
Duplicate deposit slips are turned into the Finance Office daily.  Checks are marked “For Deposit Only” as 
received.  
 
Extension: 
When funds are received they are receipted by that department and turned into the Finance Office by the end of 
the day. 
 
 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 114

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



12 | P a g e  
 

Library: 
As fees are collected they are receipted and turned into the Finance Office weekly or by the end of the day if the 
amount collected exceeds $250. There is a $50 change fund. 
 
Planning and Inspections: 
As fees are collected they are receipted and turned into the Finance Office by the end of the day. 
 
Dismal Swamp Visitors Center Gift Shop: 
Revenues are receipted by cash register receipt, checks marked “For Deposit Only” and deposits are made in 
accordance with the “Cash” Receipts Policy. Duplicate deposit receipts are turned into the Finance Office along 
with a breakdown report of sales and sales tax collected at the end of the month. There is an $80 change fund. 
 
Elections: 
When fees are collected, a receipt is written to the customer, and the funds are turned into the Finance Office 
by the end of the day. 
 
Tax Department: 
Duplicate deposit slips are turned into the Finance Office daily.  There is a $300 petty cash fund which is 
reimbursed as needed. Checks are marked “For Deposit Only” as received.  
 
South Camden Water & Sewer District: 
Duplicate deposit slips are turned into the Finance Office daily.  Checks are marked “For Deposit Only” as 
received.  
 
3-3 Safeguarding of Assets 
 
Every department should properly secure cash, checks and other funds until the daily deposit is made. 
 
3-4 Endorsement 
 
Checks to be deposited should be endorsed immediately with the bank deposit stamp to ensure safekeeping. 
 
3-5 Returned Checks 
 
All returned checks are sent to the Finance Office.  
 
Collection is the responsibility of the department, which accepted the check. Each department should make a 
concentrated collection effort so that returned checks can be cleared from the system. 
 
All returned checks should be charged a $35.00 return check fee. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



13 | P a g e  
 

Section 4 Budget 
 
4-1 General 
 
The Local Government Budget and Fiscal control Act requires that the Counties’ budget be balanced and funds 
be budgeted prior to expenditure. It is necessary for department heads to plan departmental programs and 
control the accounts in a manner that ensures current budgets represent at all times their financial plans for the 
various programs. 
 
The County’s fiscal year is July 1 to June 30. 
 
4-2 Annual Budget Adoption Process 
 
Distribution of budget binders to department heads in March begins the annual budget process. Budget requests 
are due back in the Finance Office per the budget calendar. The budget team will meet with each department 
head per the budget calendar to review and refine budget requests. 
 
A recommended budget is presented to the Board of Commissioners in May with adoption typically the first 
Monday in June. If a budget is not adopted by the beginning of the new fiscal year, an interim budget is enacted 
until a final permanent budget can be passed. Specific due dates during the budget process will be included in 
the budget binder each year. 
 
4-3 Departmental Requests 
 
During the budget process, departments are provided with a projected salary cost worksheet to help calculate 
salaries and fringe benefits. The worksheet is a guide. Errors or changes are indicated on the worksheet, which 
are used to update salary line items. 
 
Additional information is required for any request for new personnel or capital item expenditures. Requests for 
capital outlay should specifically identify items to be purchased. Budgets submitted without justification for these 
items will be returned. Requests for additional personnel must have a narrative that explains the positions 
requested and justification for the need. 
 
Department heads need to use the chart of accounts (Found in the budget binder or on a YTD Budget Report), 
which lists object codes to help properly classify expenditures for the coming year. It is important to determine 
the proper classification because expenditures will not be charged to incorrect object codes at time of payment 
because of improper budgeting. 
 
Capital Expenditures in excess of $300,000 are included in the Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP). 
Expenditures between $50,000 and $300,000 can be included at the discretion of the Budget Officer.  
 
4-4 Payroll Budget Monitoring and Adjustments 
 
Department heads are responsible for salary amounts included in their budgets. Department heads need to keep 
track of the payroll line item throughout the year to ensure that the accounts do not come up short at year-end. 
Changes in personnel, overtime pay, etc. can alter salary amounts to the point where actual expenditures exceed 
budget allowances. 
 
4-5 Budget Change Request 
 
During the fiscal year changes may be made to your budget with additional funds received or emergency 
purchases that deplete a line item. When a department needs to make a budget amendment/transfer, a Budget 
Request Form needs to be completed and sent to the Finance Officer for review. 
 
 
 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



14 | P a g e  
 

The Finance Officer has the authority to make transfer funds between expense lines. Enter the budget transfer 
into the Finance software. Upon receipt of a Budget Request Form, the Finance Officer will do one of the 
following:  
 

Approve the request, send an email back to the department approving request.  
 

Review the request, sign as being reviewed, and send it back to the department with the following action 
indicated: 

 
1. The Finance Officer will submit the request to the Clerk to the Board to be placed on the next Agenda. 

 
Deny the request because it is inappropriate. It will be sent back to the department to either be corrected 
or dropped. 

 
The Finance Officer must review all budget changes submitted to the Board. All budget changes requiring board 
action must be submitted to the Finance Officer as soon as possible, but no later than one day prior to the agenda 
calendar as received from the Clerk to the Board to ensure sufficient time to review and modify if necessary. 
 
The Board of Commissioners, by Law, must approve all amendments that increase or decrease the budget. The 
Board also must approve certain changes to the capital outlay purchases. 
 
4-6 To Complete the Budget Change Request Form 
 
Department: The department making the request. 
Date: The date the request is being made. 
 
Object: Object Code from your Departmental budget  
 
Account Name: the name of the account within your budget 
 
Increase/Decrease: The amount of the request being made. The budget has to remain balanced meaning 
revenues must equal expenditures. Therefore, you can increase revenue, decrease revenue, increase 
expenditure, or decrease expenditure, but the budget must remain balanced. 
 
Explanation: The department needs to give a detailed explanation in this area to justify the requested 
transfer/amendment. This area must be filled in with a justification for the request to be considered. 
 
Department Head Approval: The department head must sign the Budget Change Request form to be processed.  
 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



15 | P a g e  
 

 
Section 5 Capital Assets 

 
5-1 Control 
 
Capital asset acquisitions, transfers and dispositions must have proper control procedures in order to provide 
internal control of capital equipment and to assist in financial reporting. A capitalized fixed asset is tangible 
property (i.e. land, building, equipment) with a cost of $2,500 or greater and a useful life of more than one year. 
 
The Board of Commissioners must approve all capital outlay purchases in the annual budget. The department 
must provide a detail list of all capital outlay items requested in the budget during the budget process. After 
budget approval, the list of purchases is detailed on the Fixed Asset List. 
 
This form is returned to departments at the completion of the budget process. A copy is filed with the Finance 
Office for cross-reference against all capital outlay requisitions. Only items appearing on the Finance copy of the 
Capital Requests list will be approved for acquisition.  Changes in the capital outlay account during the year may 
need approval by the Board at the monthly meeting and added to that department’s Capital Request List. Consult 
with the County Manager and Finance Officer to determine if board action is required. 
 
Refer to Section 4.3 of this manual for detailed guidance regarding amendments to Capital Outlay Budgets 
subsequent to budget adoption. 
 
5-2 Records 
 
For asset acquisitions over $2,500, The Finance office will provide the department with an asset number tag to 
be placed on the property in an easily identifiable place. The Finance office maintains a detailed listing of each 
capital asset item. 
 
On an annual basis, the Finance office will provide each department a report listing all assets assigned to 
respective departments detailing any acquisitions, disposals and transfers during the year. Discrepancies in the 
report should be noted and the department should contact the Finance office to correct the discrepancies. The 
department should retain this report for future reference. 
 
Each department will be responsible for locating assets, recorded as assigned to that department by using the 
attached number tag whenever requested by Finance or the County external auditors. 
 
5-2.1 Controlled Fixed Asset Policy 
 
Controlled Fixed Assets are assets costing less than $2,499.99, have a useful life of one year or more and have 
a heightened risk of theft due to being easily transportable, readily marketable or easily diverted to personal use. 
Assets costing below $2,500.00 are expensed; they are not capitalized nor depreciated for financial reporting 
purposes. Assets costing from $500 to $2,499.99 are recorded for control purposes only. In addition, certain 
other listed assets costing less than $500, such as weapons, computer equipment, electronic equipment, 
audio/visual systems, power tools and lawn maintenance equipment are recorded for control purposes only. 
These assets are classified as controlled assets and are required to be listed with a Camden County tag on the 
asset management spreadsheet provided by the Finance Office. 
 
Disposition of Controlled Fixed Assets must follow Finance Policy and Procedures Section 5-3-Disposition of 
Assets. 
 
Department Heads are responsible for the accountability, control and safekeeping of controlled fixed assets and 
are responsible to maintain the asset management spreadsheet at all times. Department Heads may delegate 
duties to individuals within the department that manage purchasing or invoice processing for the department; 
however, ultimate responsibility resides with the Department Head. Finance must be notified of and approve of 
any delegation of duties. Failure to maintain accountability, control and safekeeping of controlled assets may 
result in disciplinary action up to and including dismissal from employment with Camden County. 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 118

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



16 | P a g e  
 

 
Randomly, and at least once a year, the Finance office will select from each department a sample of controlled 
assets from the asset management spreadsheet to visually inspect. Finance will perform this test more often if 
deemed necessary to ensure that procedures are being performed accurately and to verify the reliability and 
completeness of the controlled fixed asset list.  In addition, Finance will randomly select items that are deemed 
controlled assets from the invoice payment process to ensure item(s) are accurately and timely entered into the 
asset management system. 
 
Finance will address any discrepancies or deficiencies in the process with the Department Head and will submit 
to the County Manager a complete report of the test performed. Finance will highlight in the report any 
discrepancies or deficiencies found and corrective actions being taken to improve the departmental process. 
 
5-3 Disposition 
 
5-3.1 Surplus Property 
 
Fixed assets become surplus property when the County no longer needs them. Property can be reclassified to 
surplus by notifying the Finance office in writing of the change in usage. Finance should be notified by completing 
the surplus disposition form prior to obtain Board approval prior to disposing or transferring the asset. Before 
submitting for board approval, a memo must be circulated of the surplus property to see if someone in another 
department needs. Finance will be responsible for recording all disposals / transfers in the fixed asset system. 
 
5-3.2 Lost/Stolen Property 
 
Any asset that is missing or has been stolen should be reported in writing to the Department Head and the 
Finance Office as soon as possible. The description, serial number, fixed asset number and other information 
about the lost item should be included in the report.  Finance will determine the proper cause of action and will 
notify the County insurance carrier and any outside authorities as deemed appropriate. Unrecovered assets will 
be removed from the asset records. 
 
5-3.3 Interdepartmental Transfers 
 
Interdepartmental transfers of assets must be reported to the Finance office in writing giving as much detail as 
possible about the asset. 
 
5-3.4 Transfers to Enterprise 
 
Transfers to and from the Enterprises Funds are recorded as sales. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 119

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



17 | P a g e  
 

 
Section 6 Payroll 

 
6-1 General 
 
The Finance Office is responsible for the processing of all payrolls and for rendering timely and accurate payroll 
payments to all employees. The Finance Office is also responsible for the preparation of necessary reports and 
remittance of withheld deductions to governmental agencies and private companies as well as maintenance of 
all records required by state and federal agencies and the County. 
 
6-2 Pay Day 
 
Paydays are bi-weekly (every other Friday) – twenty-six pay periods a year. Department supervisors distribute 
direct deposit slips. 
 
6-3 Pay Period 
 
The County accrues payroll on a bi-weekly basis with disbursement the following Friday (i.e. an employee will 
work two consecutive 40-hour weeks and will be paid for the total 80 hours on the Friday following the end of the 
pay period). Weekly pay periods are recorded from Tuesday 12:00 am through Monday at 12:00 midnight. 
 
6-4 Overtime 
 
Periodically, overtime may be required of employees and is a condition of employment by the County. 
Supervisors / Department Heads, with permission from the County Manager, are responsible for authorizing any 
overtime and notifying employees as far in advance as possible. 
 
6-5 Time Reporting 
 
All employees will be responsible for preparing and signing a Time Sheet for each pay period. The time sheet is 
formatted for a bi-weekly basis and should be used to record hours worked, paid time off, and holidays. 
(Exception: Law enforcement timesheets are on a monthly sheet). Time sheets are to be completed at the end 
of each pay period, approved, and retained by each employee’s supervisor after submission to the Human 
Resources Department for the preparation of payroll. 
 
Prior to taking time off, employees are responsible for completing and submitting their time sheet to their 
supervisor. If an employee is absent on a time sheet due date (i.e. illness, injury, etc.), the employee’s supervisor 
should complete and submit a time sheet. Once the employee has returned to work, the Payroll section should 
be notified of corrections. 
 
6-6 Direct Deposits 
 
Concurrent with the completion of all necessary payroll tax withholding forms, new County employees must sign-
up with Human Resources for direct deposit of paychecks. The County’s direct deposit is honored by all local 
savings and banking institutions. A minimum of two pay periods is required for the direct deposit election to 
become effective. During the interim period, employees will receive a paycheck on Friday. 
 
Any change in the employee’s banking status (i.e. change of account number or bank) should be reported to 
Human Resources immediately to ensure accurate and timely processing of payroll deposits. 
 
6-7 Payroll Deductions 
 
The County is required by law to deduct applicable federal and state withholdings and Social Security payroll 
taxes, employee retirement contributions, and wage garnishments. All permanent employees of the County must 
join the North Carolina Local Government Employees’ Retirement System. 
 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 120

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



18 | P a g e  
 

Employee contributions to this plan are six percent of gross salary. The county’s matching contribution is 
determined annually by actuarial valuation. Voluntary deductions may include group health insurance premiums, 
credit union savings, United Way pledges, or contributions to a 401(K) plan. 
 
6-8 Pay Adjustments 
 
It is the responsibility of the employee to review their paycheck/paystub and to immediately report any 
discrepancies. If an employee notices an error in their paycheck, they should review the matter with their 
supervisor.  Changes in an employee’s federal or state payroll tax withholding should be done by filing a new   
W-4 form with Human Resources. 
 
6-9 Gifts, Prizes, and Awards 
 
IRS regulations explain, except for limited exclusions, prizes or awards given to employees are a taxable benefit. 
Cash or cash equivalent awards (such as gift cards and gift certificates) are always a taxable benefit. The value 
of the award or prize given is taxable to an employee as wages, included on Form W-2, and subject to federal 
and state income tax withholding, social security, and Medicare. 
 
Any gift cards or prizes (i.e. sporting event tickets) awarded or given to an employee are to be reported to payroll 
so the appropriate taxes can be withheld. This includes gift cards given out for the wellness activities or given to 
employee(s) by individual departments (i.e. for employee of the month). This rule does not include award and 
prizes such as water bottles, umbrellas, etc. that have been pre-printed for specific programs or activities. 
 
6-10 Garnishments 
 
By law, the county is required to honor legal garnishments of employee’s wages. The employee will be notified 
of any garnishment received by the County. 
 
6-11 Lost Paychecks 
 
Employees should report any lost or missing payroll check to Human Resources immediately so that a stop 
payment order may be initiated. 
 
6-12 Final Paychecks 
 
The final paycheck for a resigning/terminated employee will be made available on the regularly scheduled 
payday for the time accrued. Accrued vacation that is due to the employee in accordance with all personnel 
policies will be included in the final paycheck. 
 
6-13 Payroll Reports 
 
Payroll Leave Report includes the employee name, date hired, leave classification, current hours, type of leave 
(vacation or sick), beginning balance for leave, leave accrued and taken for the pay period, ending balance and 
leave taken year-to-date. Supervisors or department heads should review the printouts sent from Human 
Resources and report any discrepancies to the Human Resources Department. 
 
6-14 Verification of Employment 
 
Requests for employment verification should be directed in writing to the Human Resources Department. The 
Human Resources Department will only confirm current income, salary history and date of employment. The 
Human Resources Department will not respond to any question that requires a subjective answer. 
 
 
 
 
 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



19 | P a g e  
 

Section 7 Additional Policies 
 
These are additional policies that employees and officials are expected to follow. Please click the link to navigate 
to the respective policy. 
 
7-1 Resolution of the Camden County Board of Commissioners Regarding Setting Financial Policies  
 
7-2 Resolution to Establish Petty Cash Funds  
 
7-3 Camden County Travel Policy 
 
7-4 Credit Card Purchasing Agreement  
 
 
 

6.D.a

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ce
P

o
lic

ie
sP

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

F
IN

A
L

 U
p

d
at

ed
 0

33
03

1 
B

o
w

m
an

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



Resolution No. 2007-05-04 

A Resolution of the Camden County Board of Commissioners 
Regarding Setting Financial Policies 

Whereas, stability in fiscal affairs is a desirable objective, but a difficult goal for counties 

to attain because many factors some of which are the relationship of the various units of 

government, mandates, the changing economies and the limited authority of local 

government; and 

Whereas, the Board of Commissioners is of the opinion that the statement of minimum 

standards of fiscal policy would help present and future boards and staff to adapt to the 

changes that occur and help them to attain a reasonable measure of fiscal stability; 

Now, Therefore Be It Resolved, that the Camden County Board of Commissioners does 

hereby adopt the following financial policies: 

Debt- 

Debt service will not exceed 15% of general fund expenditures. In any year 

where debt service is less than or equal to 14% of general fund 

expenditures at least 1% of the operating budget may be transferred to 

capital reserve. 

The county will strive to pay outstanding principle debt within 15-20 

years. 

The county will strive to maintain its debt at no greater level than 2% of the 
assessed valuation of taxable property in the county. 

Fees & User Charges - 

As part of the annual budget process the County shall review the fees and 

user charges. All changes to the schedule of fees must be approved by the 

Board of Commissioners. 

The County should charge fees if allowable, when a specific group of 

beneficiaries can be identified, when it is feasible to charge the 

beneficiaries, and when there is no reason to subsidize the service wholly or 

in part. Fee levels should be set to recover the full costs of the services 

provided, unless it is deemed necessary to partially subsidize the services. 

Factors to consider in deciding whether a subsidy is appropriate include the 

burden on property tax payers, the degree to which the service benefits 

a particular segment of the population, whether beneficiaries can pay the 

fee, and whether the service provides a broader benefit to the community. 

Fund Balance - 

The county will strive to maintain an available fund balance equal to 25% of 

the General Fund budget at the end of each fiscal year which is 

substantially higher than the minimum recommended by the Local 

6.D.b

Packet Pg. 123

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ci
al

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 2
00

7-
05

-0
4 

 (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



Government Commission. 

General Fund balances in excess of targeted levels may be transferred to the 

County's capital improvement plan. 

Competitive Employment - 

The county will strive to maintain competitive pay rates by making annual 

cost of living adjustments when economically feasible for the county based 

on the consumer price index. 

Tax Rate - 

In an effort to stabilize the county's tax rate, the Board of Commissioners 

will adopt a tax rate that considers the succeeding four years anticipated 

expenditures and will strive not to change the tax rate prior to the next 

revaluation. 

The Board of Commissioners will seek to limit the growth of the annual 

operating budget to an amount that can be accommodated by growth in the 

tax base as well as other state and federal revenues, without a tax increase 

wherever possible. 

The County will strive to annually review and develop revenue projections, 

expenditures, and the fund balance for the next five years. 

Adopted this _4th_day of June, 2007. 

Jeffrey Jennings, Chairman 

Attest: 

Ava Gurganus, Clerk to the Board 

 
 

6.D.b

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 F

in
an

ci
al

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 2
00

7-
05

-0
4 

 (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



6.D.c

Packet Pg. 125

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

et
ty

 C
as

h
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 5
-1

-2
01

7 
 (

29
69

 :
 F

in
an

ce
 P

o
lic

ie
s 

&
 P

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

- 
K

en
 B

o
w

m
an

)



Approved by BOC on September 9, 2019 

 
 

I. Purpose – The intent of this policy is to apply uniform provisions for reimbursement of necessary 

expenses of County employees or officials of the County who are required to travel within or 

outside the County boundaries in the performance of their duties and in the interest of County 

affairs. These policies are intended to apply to employees, board members, or other persons on 

official County business. 

 

II. Policy Administration - The respective department heads are responsible for the administration of 

the provisions of this policy. Department heads are authorized to approve travel reimbursements 

for the employees under their supervision except where otherwise stated. For the purposes of 

administering this policy, Board Members or other County delegates or officials will be considered 

“employees” and thereby reimbursed per this policy.  Expenses for family members will not be 

paid by the County and should be paid directly to the vendor by the traveling party.  NO 

MEALS ARE TO BE CHARGED ON COUNTY CREDIT CARDS. 

  

III.       General Policy 

  

A.  Travel - Camden County recognizes that employees and officials are required to travel both 

within and outside the State of North Carolina for the purpose of representing the County at 

meetings and professional associations, as well as for training to enhance their skills regarding 

the performance of their various positions within the County Government.  

 

It is inherently understood in this policy that an individual traveling on official County business 

is expected to exercise the same care in incurring expenses that a prudent person would 

exercise if traveling on personal business and expending personal funds. Excess costs, 

circuitous routes, delays, or luxury accommodations and services unnecessary, unjustified, or 

solely for the convenience or personal preference of the traveler in the performance of official 

County business are not acceptable under this standard, and travelers will be responsible for 

unauthorized costs and additional expenses incurred for personal preference or convenience. 

 

Requests for travel approval should be submitted to the County Manager and Finance for 

pre-audit and approval 10 days prior to departure. Failure to have travel pre-approved 

may result in travel reimbursements being denied. 

 

See Exhibit A at the end of the Policy for the Travel Request form. 

 

B. Subsistence allowance – The following schedule shall be used for reporting allowable 

subsistence expenses incurred while traveling on official county business. 

 

                   In State                      Out-of-State 

        Breakfast $8.00    Breakfast $15.00 

         Lunch  $15.00    Lunch  $17.00 

        Dinner  $20.00    Dinner  $23.00 

                                         $43.00        $55.00 

 

TRAVEL POLICY 

6.D.d

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ra
ve

l P
o

lic
y 

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  0
9-

20
19

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



Approved by BOC on September 9, 2019 

        

No receipts are required.  Employees will be reimbursed for the amounts listed above   regardless               

of actual expenses.  The stated amount also includes all tips.  An exception to the above schedule  

will be applicable if the conference locations provide meals at a higher or lower amount than those  

in the schedule.  See c. and d. below. 

 

a. Daily Travel (overnight) 

Employees may receive allowances for meals for partial days or travel when the partial  

day is the day of departure or day of return.  To be eligible, the employee must: 

   -Breakfast – depart duty station prior to 6:00 am 

-Lunch – depart duty station prior to 10:00 am or return to duty station after 2:00 

pm 

-Dinner – return to duty station after 8:00 pm, if stopping for dinner causes a 

return after 8:00 pm dinner will not be eligible.  Example: If you stop in 

Williamston to eat at 6:30 for 30 minutes you will get back to your duty station at 

approximately 8:15.  If you would not have stopped you would have made it back 

prior to 8:00 therefore dinner would not be reimbursable. 

 

b. Daily Travel (not overnight) 

Normally, allowances shall not be paid to employees for lunches if travel does not 

involve an overnight stay.  To be eligible for allowances for breakfast and dinner the 

employee must leave or return to their duty station in accordance with the schedule 

under overnight travel.  Employees may be reimbursed for lunch when the employee’s 

job requires his/her attendance at the meeting of a board, commission, committee or 

council in his official capacity and the meal is preplanned as part of the meeting.  The 

normal reimbursement rates still apply. 

 

c. Excess – No excess will be allowed for meals unless such costs are included in 

registration fees and/or there are predetermined charges for the meals. 

 

d. Reduction – A reduction in the per diem schedule will occur when a conference 

location offers meals at a lower rate/cost than the County’s schedule. 

 

 

 C.  Mileage Allowance –Travel by privately owned vehicle when necessary and allowable will be 

reimbursed using the IRS reimbursement rate based on the shortest route of travel. The annual 

rate will be reported to staff and officials by the Finance Office annually. 

 

 

D.  Travel Reimbursement – The travel reimbursement form provided for the traveler should be 

turned in for reimbursement within 10 days of the employee’s return. This form lists all 

mileage, private or public transportation, lodging, meals, registration, and other travel expenses 

which are reimbursable. Itemized receipts for lodging,  registration, and private or public 

transportation are to be attached to and made a part of the reimbursement form. For taxis, 

airport shuttles, and buses, receipts may not be available or provided; therefore, attach, if 

possible. The reimbursement form must be approved by the department head and signed by the 

employee before being presented to the Finance Office for reimbursement. 

  

See Exhibit B at the end of the Policy for the Travel Reimbursement form. 

  

E.  Transportation Cost of Employee – Payment of mileage allowance or actual cost of public 

transportation as applicable. If rental vehicles are used for both business and non-business 

purposes, reimbursement to the county for the non-business portion will apply.  

6.D.d

Packet Pg. 127

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ra
ve

l P
o

lic
y 

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  0
9-

20
19

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



Approved by BOC on September 9, 2019 

 

 

IV.      Authorized Travel Modes  

 

A.  County-owned Vehicle – This method of transportation is to be used whenever a county vehicle 

is available. Exceptions to this requirement must be approved by the County Manager.  The 

department head may authorize reimbursement to the employee for exact operation expenses in 

circumstances where direct credit charges cannot be made to the county such as gas or 

unforeseen immediate needs for maintenance and the vehicle card is unavailable. (Please notify 

Maintenance, the Department Head and the Finance Officer as soon as reasonable.) 

 

B.  Private owned Vehicle – When no county vehicle is available, this mode may be used if 

specifically authorized by the appropriate department head and the County Manager. The 

County will pay mileage using the IRS rate for the first 100 miles and .20 for every mile over 

100 miles. 

 

C.  Transportation by Common Carrier – Reimbursement for air, rail, or bus fare is limited to 

business or coach fare, substantiated by a receipt. Quotes must be obtained from more than one 

(1) common carrier, if multiple carriers exist, and documentation that the lowest fare available 

was used must be submitted on the travel request form.  

 

D.  Rental Vehicles – Reimbursement of rental vehicle expenses will not be authorized without 

prior approval by County Manager. If approved, the rented vehicle should be secured at the 

lowest practical cost. 

 

V.       Travel Destination  

 

A.  Local Travel – County employees, who by the normal nature of their duties, are required 

to travel regularly within the county or district and are individually authorized by the 

appropriate department head, are eligible for reimbursement of transportation expense 

on a monthly basis. 

 

B.  Travel Outside the County/District – Approved travel expenses outside the county for 

county purposes or purposes in the best interest of the county, such as training, 

conferences, professional meetings, etc., may be reimbursed to the limits of the policy 

for:  

 1. Transportation cost  

 2. Lodging  

 3. Meals  

 4. Registration costs  

 5. Necessary incidental expenses (parking, tolls, etc.)  

 

C.  Lodging – To receive reimbursement for lodging expenses, an itemized hotel bill must 

be attached to the reimbursement form. Hotel room rates are allowable up to the federal 

government rate. The County Manager must approve room rates when they exceed the 

allowable rate. 

 

D.  Registration Cost – Registration costs should be paid directly by the County. When an 

employee personally pays a registration fee, a receipt for payment should be obtained 

and is preferable to a canceled check for reimbursement purposes. In addition, if the 

registration is paid for a class or exam and the employee has to retake the test/class due 

to non-compliance or failure, the employee is responsible solely for the payment (No 

reimbursement will be made).  Additional registration costs for recreational and 

6.D.d

Packet Pg. 128

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ra
ve

l P
o

lic
y 

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  0
9-

20
19

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



Approved by BOC on September 9, 2019 

entertainment activities will not be paid by the County. Meal functions are not included 

in this requirement, and are eligible for payment by the County in lieu of the meal 

reimbursement payment.  

 

E.  Out-of-State Travel – Out-of-state travel begins when the employee leaves the State and 

remains in effect until the employee returns to the State. Out-of-state travel requests by 

employees and department heads must be approved by the County Manager.  

 

F.  Credit Card – Employees and officials authorized to use a County credit card may elect 

to use them instead of reimbursement for lodging, registration, and public or private 

transportation; however, meals are still subject to the meal rates listed in Section III. C. 

of the Policy. All receipts for expenditures must be submitted to the Finance Office in 

order for the expenditures to be approved.  

 

G.  Travel with Others - When two or more employees are traveling to the same destination, 

maximum use shall be made of special group travel discounts and joint use of the 

transportation including taxi cabs, County-owned, or privately owned vehicles. Travel 

with representatives of other government units is encouraged whenever possible for 

expense sharing.  

 

H.  Commuting – No reimbursement shall be made for use of a personal vehicle in 

commuting from an individual’s home to his/her office.  

 

I.   Other Costs - Reasonable parking fees, tolls, taxi charges, and expenses of a similar 

nature, when appropriate to the travel, are reimbursable upon submission of appropriate 

documentation of the same. The Finance Officer or County Manager shall approve or 

disapprove all other expense reimbursements not clearly defined in the Policy or those 

which have been questioned.  

 

VI.      Extraordinary Travel or Cost  

 

In instances of travel not covered by this policy, or where the actual necessary costs exceed 

the maximum reimbursement allowed and the travel is in the best interest of the county, the 

County Manager may approve reimbursement of actual cost beyond the maximums stated 

herein. 

 

VII.     Travel Expenses not Addressed by this Policy  

 

Any travel expenses falling outside the realm of this policy must be approved by the County 

Manager. 

  

VIII.   Travel Advances  

             

            Hotel accommodations may be paid directly to the hotel in advance by County credit card.  

The itemized receipt must be turned in with your travel reimbursement.   

 

 

IX.      Travel Procedure 

  

A.  A Travel Request Form should be submitted to the Department Head for approval and 

forwarded to the Finance Department for pre-audit purposes. A Travel Advance Request 

should be included with this form if needed/requested. 

6.D.d

Packet Pg. 129

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ra
ve

l P
o

lic
y 

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  0
9-

20
19

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



Approved by BOC on September 9, 2019 

 

B.  Upon return, the Travel Reimbursement form and supporting itemized receipts 

(includes, hotel and allowable incidentals) must be submitted to the Department Head 

for approval. After approval by the Department Head, the form should be forwarded to 

the Finance Department.  

 

C.  The Finance Department will determine that the travel form and receipts have been 

properly approved, that they are mathematically correct, and that requested 

reimbursements agree to submitted receipts, when required, and are within the limits set 

by the Policy. If an error in the reimbursement request is found, the requesting party 

will be informed and the error will be corrected before payment is made.  

 

D.  Trip Cancellation – When an employee cancels an approved trip and the County has 

paid airfare, registration and other related fees or issued a travel advance, a memo must 

be sent to the Finance Department explaining the cancellation.  Non-refundable 

expenditures will be reviewed on a case by case basis by the County Manager. 

 

X.       The following items are not reimbursable:  

 

(1) Any expense not supported by a receipt  

(2) Meals included in registration/conference 

(3) Travel to and from work place  

(4) Souvenirs from the trip  

(5) Items purchased to be used as door prizes or raffle items  

(6) Non-employee/board member expense  

(7) Alcoholic beverages  

(8) Any traffic fines  

(9) Entertainment expenses 

 

This list is not all-inclusive. The Finance Officer or County Manager shall approve or 

disapprove all other expense reimbursements not clearly defined in the Policy or those 

which have been questioned.  

 

Attachments:  

Exhibit A, Travel Authorization Form  

Exhibit B, Travel Reimbursement Form 

 

6.D.d

Packet Pg. 130

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ra
ve

l P
o

lic
y 

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

  0
9-

20
19

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



Amended 4/4/2018 

CAMDEN COUNTY PURCHASING CARD 

NEW CARDHOLDER ENROLLMENT FORM 
(Card holder Applicant Complete Sections I and IV, Department Manager Complete Sections II and III ) 

 

I. EMPLOYEE/CARDHOLDER INFORMATION:  

Name:  Department:  
 

II. BANK OF AMERICA CARD LIMITS (IF APPLICABLE):  PLEASE CHOOSE ONE LEVEL:    
  MONTHLY   

Level 1  $1,000   

Level 2  $2,000   

Level 3  $3,000   
 

III. APPROVAL: Department Head:     

    

IV. CARDHOLDER’S AGREEMENT 
 

• I understand that I am being entrusted with access to the County’s Purchasing Card Program to make 
financial commitments on behalf of the County and will restrict my purchases to approved County activities. 

• I understand that the PO threshold is $200 and if a respective purchase requires a PO, then I am to obtain & 
prepare a PO requisition prior to making a purchase or placing an order. 

• I understand that it is my responsibility to ensure that funds remain available in the annual budget for 
any purchase I make with my county issued credit card (Bank of America VISA, Lowes Card, etc.) 
Initial           (Department Heads are responsible for ensuring sufficient funds remain for Gas Card Expenditures) 

• I understand that under no circumstances will I use the County’s Purchasing Card Program to make 
personal purchases for myself or for others.  Any such purchases made with my card will be considered to 
be made by me and my responsibility. Initial            

• I will not permit another person to use the County Purchasing Card issued to me. Any such purchases made 
with my card will be considered to be made by me and my responsibility. 

• I will be responsible for the safekeeping of the Purchasing Card issued to me and, if lost or stolen, I will 
report its loss immediately to Bank of America 800-673-1044 for VISA cards, my Supervisor, and Finance. 

• I understand that my personal credit will not be affected by any use of the County Purchasing Card. 

• I will follow the established procedures for using the County’s Purchasing Card Program. Failure to do so 
may either result in revocation of my use privileges or other disciplinary actions by Camden County. 

• I agree that, if I have been issued a purchasing card in connection with the County’s Purchasing Card 
Program, I will return the purchasing card to the County upon termination of my Purchasing Card privileges. 

• I agree that should I violate the terms of the Agreement and use the County’s Purchasing Card Program for 
personal use or gain that I will reimburse the County for all incurred charges and any fees (including 
attorney’s fees and expenses) related to the collection of these charges. 

• The use of the County Purchasing Card to procure goods and services for other than the official use of the 
County is fraudulent use.  An employee guilty of fraudulent use will be dismissed for detrimental personal 
conduct and will be subject to legal action. 

 

I have read, understand and agree to the conditions above: 
     Sign: __________________________ 
 
     Date: __________________________ 

V. CARD RECEIPT DOCUMENTATION: 
 
  Card Account Number:     
 
  Date Issued to Cardholder:     
 
  Cardholder’s Signature:     
 

6.D.e

Packet Pg. 131

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

A
M

D
E

N
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
 P

U
R

C
H

A
S

IN
G

 C
A

R
D

 A
G

R
E

E
M

E
N

T
.d

o
cx

  (
29

69
 :

 F
in

an
ce

 P
o

lic
ie

s 
&

 P
ro

ce
d

u
re

s 
- 

K
en

 B
o

w
m

an
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Board Appointments 

 

Item Number: 7.A 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Dan Porter, Planning Director 

 Planning & Zoning 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Planning Board 

 

Attachments: Dave Parks_Planning (PDF) 

 
Summary: 

A seat from the Courthouse Township on the Planning Board was recently vacated by the 

resignation of Cathleen Saunders.  It is the recommendation of staff that Dave Parks be 

appointed to fulfill Ms. Saunders' term, set to expire June 2023. 

Recommendation: 

Approval. 

7.A

Packet Pg. 132



7.A.a

Packet Pg. 133

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

av
e 

P
ar

ks
_P

la
n

n
in

g
  (

29
41

 :
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 B

o
ar

d
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Board Appointments 

 

Item Number: 7.B 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Tim White, Parks & Recreation Director 

 Senior Center 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Senior Advisory Board 

 

Attachments:  

 
Summary: 

It is the request of staff that Dorothy Drake, Patricia Delano and Edith Jennings be reappointed 

to the Senior Advisory Board. 

Recommendation: 

Approval. 

7.B

Packet Pg. 134



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Board Appointments 

 

Item Number: 7.C 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Tim White, Parks & Recreation Director 

 Parks & Recreation 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Parks & Recreation Advisory Board 

 

Attachments:  

 
Summary: 

It is the request of staff that Alex Leary be reappointed to the Parks & Recreation Advisory Board 

for an additional term. 

Recommendation: 

Approval. 

7.C

Packet Pg. 135



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Board Appointments 

 

Item Number: 7.D 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Board of Commissioners 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Senior Tar Heel Legislature 

 

Attachments:  

 
Summary: 

Based on the nomination from Senior Center Coordinator Laura Jolley, it is the request of the 

Area Agency on Aging that Lynne McLain be appointed as the Senior Tarheel Legislative 

delegate for Camden County. 

Recommendation: 

Approval. 

7.D

Packet Pg. 136



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.A 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Board of Commissioners 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   BOC Meeting Minutes - March 1, 2021 

 

Attachments: bocminutes_030121 (DOCX) 

 

8.A

Packet Pg. 137



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

6:00 PM – Closed Session 

7:00 PM – Regular Meeting 

Historic Courtroom - Camden, North Carolina 

 

MINUTES 

A Regular Meeting of the Camden County Board of Commissioners was held on March 1, 2021 in the Historic 

Courtroom, Camden, North Carolina.   

 

CALL TO ORDER  

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Tom White at 6:00 PM.  Also Present: Vice Chairman Ross Munro, 

Commissioners Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White; County Manager Ken Bowman, and Clerk to the 

Board Karen Davis. 

 

CLOSED SESSION  

 

Motion to go into Closed Session for the purpose of a Safety Briefing pursuant to NCGS 143-318.11(a)(9). 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Randy Krainiak 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

Motion to come out of Closed Session. 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

The Board came out of Closed Session at 6:22 PM and Chairman Tom White recessed the meeting until 7:00 PM. 

 

At 7:00 PM Chairman Tom White reconvened the meeting of the Board of Commissioners and welcomed those in 

attendance. 

 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Pastor Kevin Buzzard gave the invocation and the Board led in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

ITEM 1.  PUBLIC COMMENTS          

Mary Lou Jones of Kill Devil Hills, NC addressed the Board and spoke in opposition to the $75 Solid Waste Fee.  

Mrs. Jones is a property owner in Camden.  In November of 2020 Mrs. Jones spoke with the County Manager in 

regard to the fee.  It was her understanding that she would hear back from the County Manager for more information 

but did not.  Mrs. Jones suggested the fee be placed on the water bill and requested that the Board refund the $75 

that she paid as part of her tax bill.   

 

ITEM 2.  CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE STATEMENT     

Clerk to the Board Karen Davis read the Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement. 

 

ITEM 3.  CONSIDERATION OF THE AGENDA        

The agenda was amended to add the Construction and Acquisition Agreement between Camden County and the 

Board of Education to New Business as Item 6.C. and to add Resolution 2021-03-01 to the Consent Agenda as Item 

8.K.  

 

Motion to approve the agenda as amended. 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 138

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Ross Munro 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

ITEM 4.  PRESENTATIONS          

 

A. Special Recognition - Retiring Planning Director Dan Porter was recognized by County Manager Ken Bowman 

and the Board of Commissioners for 17 years of service to Camden County. 

 

B. FY 2019-2020 Audit Presentation – Greg Adams with Thompson, Price, Scott & Adams presented the FY 

2019-2020 audit, which is available for public inspection at the Camden County Finance Office. 

 

C. Albemarle Commission – Executive Director Michael Ervin and Special Projects Administrator Sharon Smith 

introduced themselves to the Board.  They reminded the Board of services that are provided through Albemarle 

Commission and made themselves available to assist the County in any way possible. 

 

D. Fire Department Drone Program – South Mills Volunteer Fire Department Chief Tommy Banks addressed the 

Board in regard to the Fire Department Drone Program.  It is his request that the County allow the Fire 

Department to submit an application to operate a drone program.   

 

It was decided by consensus to gather additional information and place the Drone Program on the April 5, 2021 

meeting agenda for consideration by the Board. 

 

South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors 

 

Chairman White recessed the meeting of the Board of Commissioners and called to order the South Camden Water 

& Sewer District Board of Directors Meeting. 

 

Public Comments – None 

 

Consideration of the Agenda  

 

Motion to approve the agenda as presented.   

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

New Business 

 

A. Monthly Report – David Credle 

 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 139

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

 

 

 
 

Motion to approve the monthly report as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Randy Krainiak 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

Motion to adjourn South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors. 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Randy Krainiak 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

Chairman Tom White adjourned the South Camden Water & Sewer Board of Directors and reconvened the Board of 

Commissioners. 

 

ITEM 5.  PUBLIC HEARINGS          

 

A. Zoning Text Amendments to Comply with NCGS 160D  

 

Motion to open the public hearing for Ordinance 2021-02-01 Zoning Text Amendments to comply with 

changes to NCGS 160D. 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 140

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

Planning Director Dan Porter presented Ordinance 2021-02-01 which outlines the changes necessary to comply with 

a new state law embodied in General Statute 160D. 

 

Chapter 160D is a new chapter in the General Statutes that consolidates the land use regulations found in GS 153A 

(for counties) and Chapter 160A (for municipalities), reorganizes the regulations, and incorporates into law the 

many court decisions handed down over the years since the initial laws were written. The deadline for cities and 

counties to make the necessary changes to comply with the new law is July 1, 2021. 

 

The new chapter is the result of over 4 years of drafting and submitting to the legislature by the NC Bar Association, 

NC Homebuilders Association, UNC School of Government, the NC Chapter of the America Planning Association, 

and reviewed by planners and lawyers from around the state. 

 

Staff has arranged the text changes in two groups. The first group simply replaces UDO general statute citation 

references to Chapters 153A and 160A to the correct Chapter 160D sections. The second group is substantive text 

changes that either replace old language, or adds new language/requirements which generally codify decisions of the 

court system. 

 

The Planning Board voted unanimously to recommend approval. 

 

   
 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 141

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

   
 

   
 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 142

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

   
 

   
 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 143

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

   
 

 

  
The following addition to Section 2.3.24 TRANSFER PLAT was distributed to the Board: 

d. The above deed restriction provision shall be retroactive to the original date of the Unified Development 

Ordinance rewrite approved on February 4, 2019. 

 

Chairman Tom White called opened the floor for public comments. 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 144

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

Suzanne Berry commented that the slides on the screen did not change and the speaker’s back was to the audience 

during the hearing presentation.  She added that there were no informational handouts.   

 

Motion to close the public hearing. 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Randy Krainiak 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

Motion to add Ordinance 2021-02-01 to the agenda. 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

Motion to approve Ordinance 2021-02-01 with the exception of Section 2.3.24 (Transfer Plat) for the 

following reasons: 

• The proposed text amendments do not result from any events affecting land use and 

development patterns so it is neither consistent nor inconsistent with plan content; merely a 

legislative mandate to remain valid in the County’s exercise of authority to set such standards 

and specifications. 

• The proposed amendments are supportive of the Plan’s purposes: 

➢ Establish the legal foundation for zoning and subdivision changes 

➢ Guide future land-use decisions 

➢ Provide a legal foundation for future land-use related regulations 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Randy Krainiak 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 
Motion to lift the restriction in Section 2.3.24 (Transfer Plat) of Ordinance 2021-02-01 for further 

investigation.   

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

ITEM 6.  NEW BUSINESS          

 

A. Tax Report – Lisa Anderson 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 145

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 146

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

30 Largest Unpaid – Real 

 
 

30 Oldest Unpaid – Real 

 
 

30 Largest Unpaid – Personal 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 147

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

30 Oldest Unpaid – Personal 

 
 

Motion to approve the tax report as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

B. Zoning Administrator Appointment 

 

The County Planning Director/Zoning Administrator will be on leave for the month of April and retiring on May 1, 

2021.  In order to ensure continuity of Planning Department review and approval processes it is important to 

designate a new Zoning Administrator. 

 

Amber Curling is currently classified as Planner I and has been assisting with increasing independence land use 

applications processed through the office. She has also completed 3 intensive 2-week courses in zoning, subdivision, 

and other land use laws of North Carolina and has passed the exam to become a North Carolina Certified Zoning 

Official.  

 

It is the recommendation of staff that Amber Curling be appointed as Zoning Administrator for Camden County. 

 

Motion to appoint Amber Curling as Zoning Administrator for Camden County. 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

C. Construction and Acquisition Agreement Between Camden County and Board of Education – Ken 

Bowman 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 148

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

   
 

   
 

Motion to approve the Construction and Acquisition Agreement between Camden County and the Camden 

County Board of Education as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Ross Munro 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 149

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

ITEM 7.  BOARD APPOINTMENTS         

 

A. Camden Economic Development Commission 

 

Motion to reappoint Jeff Jennings to the Camden Economic Development Commission for an additional 

term. 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

B. Library Board of Trustees 

 

Motion to appoint Ginny Kuklewski to the Library Board of Trustees. 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Tiffney White 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

ITEM 8.  CONSENT AGENDA          

 

A. BOC Meeting Minutes – February 1, 2021 

 

B. Budget Amendments 

 

   
 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 150

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

   
 

 

C. Tax Collection Report 

 

 
 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 151

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

D. DMV Monthly Report 

 

 
 

E. Refunds Over $100 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 152

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

F. Vehicle Refunds Over $100 

 

 
 

G. Pickups, Releases & Refunds 

 

 
 

H. Surplus Property  

 

Department Item Disposal Method Suggested Value Reason for Surplus 

Planning Large Format 

Scanner 

GovDeals $50 Old/Unclear Print 

 

 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 153

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

I. Set Public Hearing for April 5, 2021 – Camden Solar, LLC 

 

J. Set Public Hearing for April 5, 2021– Avery Shores Rezoning 

 

K. Resolution 2021-03-01 

 

 
 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [5-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: Tom White, Ross Munro, Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, Tiffney White 

 

ITEM 9.  COUNTY MANAGER’S REPORT        

County Manager Ken Bowman included the following in his report: 

• Albemarle Regional Jail to begin trash pickups along roadways next week.  Let the County Manager know 

if you have a roadside that needs attention.   

• BOC Retreat – March 3, 2021; 9 AM at the Fairfield Inn in Elizabeth City 

• BOC Budget Work Session – April 1, 2021; 1:00 PM at the Camden Public Library 

• ARHS will host the next vaccination clinic in Camden on Wednesday, March 3, 2021 at the Camden 

Intermediate School; 9:00 – 11:30 AM and 1:00 PM – 4:30 PM; 1st and 2nd dose clinic.  Clients for the 2nd 

dose will be notified either by ARHS or the emergency notification system.  For questions refer to the 

ARHS website or call the hotline at 1-833-640-7468. 

• Next BOC Meeting – April 5, 2021. 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 154

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 1, 2021 

• NCDOT will be conducting a traffic study on 343 near Taylor’s Oak Lane and Bartlett’s Landing due to a 

number of car accidents in that area. 

• Statewide Tornado Drill – March 10, 2021 at 9:30 AM. 

• Zoning Administrator Amber Curling completed the Plat Review Course and Zoning Official Certification 

Examination.  Congratulations, Amber! 

• Updated Camden County COVID statistics – 585 lab-confirmed cases; 16 active cases, 564 recovered, 5 

deaths. 

• Condolences to Former Camden County Sheriff Tony Perry on the passing of his wife, Linda.  Mrs. Perry 

was a former employee of the Department of Social Services and made many outstanding contributions to 

the community. 

 

ITEM 10.  COMMISSIONERS’ REPORTS         

None. 

 

ITEM 11.  INFORMATION, REPORTS & MINUTES FROM OTHER AGENCIES    

The following reports were submitted for information: 

A. Albemarle Commission Area Agency on Aging – RAC Report Submitted by Mrs. Gwen Wescott 

B. Register of Deeds Report 

C. Library Report 

 

ITEM 12.  OTHER MATTERS          

None. 

 

ITEM 13.  ADJOURN           

 

 There being no further matters for discussion, Chairman Tom White adjourned the meeting at 8:32 PM. 

 

       

      ATTEST: 

 

 

 

            

Tom White, Chairman    Karen M. Davis 

Camden County Board of Commissioners  Clerk to the Board of Commissioners 

8.A.a

Packet Pg. 155

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
01

21
  (

29
40

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 1
, 2

02
1)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.B 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Board of Commissioners 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   BOC Meeting Minutes - March 3, 2021 

 

Attachments: bocminutes_030321 (DOCX) 

 

8.B

Packet Pg. 156



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 3, 3021 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

Annual Retreat 

March 3, 2021; 9:00 AM 

Fairfield Inn - Elizabeth City, NC 

 

The Camden County Board of Commissioners held its annual retreat on March 3, 2021 at the Fairfield Inn in 

Elizabeth City, North Carolina. 

 

Present: Chairman Tom White, Vice Chairman Ross Munro, Commissioners Clayton Riggs, Randy Krainiak, and 

Tiffney White.  

 

Staff Present: County Manager Ken Bowman and Clerk to the Board Karen Davis.   

 

Chairman Tom White called the meeting to order at 9:00 AM.   

 

A motion to approve the agenda was offered by Vice Chairman Munro.  The motion passed unanimously with all 

members voting aye.   

 

The Board received information updates on the following from County Manager Ken Bowman: 

 

Project Updates/Information 

 

• 2021-2022 Budget Highlights 

⬧ Strive to maintain the same department budget projections that were adopted in 2020-2021. 

⬧ Tax Increase 

▪ $.10 increase for new school debt service 

▪ $.03-.04 for operational costs 

⬧ COLA 1-2% for staff 

⬧ Capital Projects 

⬧ Possible Adjustments: Employee healthcare (1-2% increase); dental (4% increase); life insurance 

(no change); Increase to retirement system (1-2% increase); general liability insurance (March 10th 

earliest to get numbers) 

⬧ Continue to provide outstanding government services at all levels. 

⬧ Continue to minimize the financial impact of county operations on its citizens through mindful 

budgeting and frugal expenditures. 

⬧ Fund Capital goals as indicated in the Capital Improvement Plan. 

⬧ Maintain a reserve fund balance in accordance with the financial policies outlined and adopted in 

Resolution 2007-05-04. 

⬧ Current General Fund Budget FY 2020-2021 - $13,422,913. 

• Lease – Emergency Medical Services 

⬧ To be reviewed / updated this year. 

• Lease – Success Academy (former NCDC Building) 

⬧ To be reviewed / updated this year. 

• Capital Projects (Draft) 

⬧ Approved / Funded 

▪ Administration/Public Services Complex Campus 

▪ Camden County High School 

▪ Broadband Infrastructure 

⬧ Recommended / Unfunded 

▪ South Mills Wastewater Filtration Pond  

▪ Wastewater Expansion US 158 East from Hardee’s to Country Club Road 

⬧ Identified / Unfunded 

▪ New raw water well 

▪ US 158 Sidewalk Extension 

▪ South Mills Boat Ramp and Park 

8.B.a

Packet Pg. 157

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
03

21
  (

29
46

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 3
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 3, 3021 

▪ South Mills Wastewater Expansion and Disposal 

 

• Unified Development Ordinance 

⬧ Chapter 160D is a new chapter in the General Statues that consolidates land use regulations found 

in GS 153A for counties and incorporates into law the decisions handed down over the years since 

the initial laws were written.   

⬧ The new chapter is the result of over 4 years of drafting and submitting to the legislature by the 

NC Bar Association, NC Homebuilders Association, UNC School of Government, the NC Chapter 

of the America Planning Association, and reviewed by planners and lawyers from around the state. 

⬧ The changes are necessary to comply with a new state law embodied in General Statute 160D. 

⬧ Staff has arranged the text changes in two groups.  The first group simply replaces UDO General 

Statute citation references to Chapters 153A and 160A to the correct Chapter 160D sections.  The 

second group is substantive text changes that either replace old language, or adds new 

language/requirements which generally codify decisions of the court system. 

⬧ The deadline for cities and counties to make the necessary changes to comply with the new law is 

July 1, 2021. 

⬧ Recommend a mini-workshop hosted by the Planning Department to discuss further changes / 

modifications to the current UDO. 

• County Administration Complex – Library 

 

   
 

8.B.a

Packet Pg. 158

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
03

21
  (

29
46

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 3
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 3, 3021 

 

 

8.B.a

Packet Pg. 159

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
03

21
  (

29
46

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 3
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 3, 3021 

• New High School 

 

 
 

 

• Broadband 

⬧ Fiber is being placed along Rt 343 from Shipyard Road to the water tower. 

⬧ The enclosure and generator are in place at the water tower. 

⬧ Antennas are installed on the water tower.  Service will extend approximately 5 miles around the 

tower. 

⬧ Fiber is being placed from the water tower north to the Commerce Park traveling along Old 

Swamp Road. 

⬧ Microelectronics Center of North Carolina (MCNC) to connect in Elizabeth City. 

⬧ By mid-March the water tower should be activated. 

• South Mills Water Association 

⬧ The current agreement provides up to the 150k gallons of water per day. 

⬧ Since the beginning of January 2020 SMWA is using about 150,000 gallons of water per day. 

⬧ The current rate is $6.17 / 1000 gallons and is in place for two years starting July 10, 2019. 

⬧ The BOC sets the rates in Camden County.  The rate is set to cover the cost of operation and debt 

service. 

• South Mills Landing 

⬧ On February 15th the Order approving the preliminary plat and the Development Agreement were 

fully executed and recorded on Thursday, February 18th. 

8.B.a

Packet Pg. 160

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
03

21
  (

29
46

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 3
, 2

02
1)



 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

March 3, 3021 

⬧ Annual Development Schedule spreadsheet shows the number of houses at each stage of final plat, 

construction drawings, and occupancy. It also shows fees to the county for water and sewer 

connections. 

⬧ SML has received an extension of their allotment of water connections from SMWA for the first 

phase of 129 houses.  The engineer has contracted with Timmons Group to study the SMWA 

waterlines impacting their development to determine what, if any, improvements are needed; 

similar to the study that Timmons did for Camden Plantation. 

⬧ The preliminary plat has been approved by the BOC and the engineer is working on the 

construction drawings and the stormwater plan. 

• Camden Plantation 

⬧ Boyd Homes – Ken Merner and David Rudiger 

⬧ 1700 Homes – may be reduced based on wetlands mitigation 

⬧ Golf Course 

⬧ Commercial Shopping 

⬧ Land Sale Agreement for 13.25 acres at $10k per acre 

⬧ Public water is provided by SMWA.  Seller agrees to provide water to SMWA and SMWA agrees 

to purchase at a reasonable rate and then sell to Buyer. 

⬧ A Reverter Clause is in place by the Seller to prohibit the Buyer from selling the property to 

another individual or entity within 3 years for profit of the Buyer. 

⬧ Master Plan Amendment has been approved. 

⬧ All state permits have been approved to begin Phase 1A. 

⬧ Water plans have been submitted for State approval. 

⬧ Phase 1A approval consists of US 17 entrance / 109 homes / clubhouse / golf course grading 

⬧ Construction start pending approval of water system plans by SMWA 

⬧ Water system will require pressure testing to determine if fire hydrants can be supported or if 

alternate fire suppression improvements are needed. 

• Camden Commerce Park Upgrades 

⬧ Albemarle Electric Work – Completed along with street lights in place 

⬧ 3-Phase Power has been installed along Opportunity Drive 

⬧ The new entrance into Mangum Property is complete with drainage pipes and a 300-foot gravel 

road into the property. 

⬧ Southeastern Equipment purchased Lot 3 (16+ acres) 

⬧ Road extensions along Opportunity Drive to Fink property and to Southeastern Equipment 

⬧ The dirt berm has been leveled and property seeded. 

 

There being no further matters for discussion, Chairman Tom White adjourned the retreat at 12:36 PM. 

 

       

      ATTEST: 

 

 

 

            

Tom White, Chairman    Karen M. Davis 

Camden County Board of Commissioners  Clerk to the Board of Commissioners 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8.B.a

Packet Pg. 161

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

03
03

21
  (

29
46

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
M

ar
ch

 3
, 2

02
1)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.C 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Board of Commissioners 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Closed Session Minutes 

 

Attachments:  

 
Summary: 

Consideration of Closed Session Minutes, copies of which were previously distributed. 

Recommendation: 

Approval. 

8.C

Packet Pg. 162



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.D 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Stephanie Jackson, HR Director 

 Finance 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Budget Amendments 

 

Attachments: Budget Amendments (PDF) 

 

8.D

Packet Pg. 163



8.D.a

Packet Pg. 164

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

29
65

 :
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.D.a

Packet Pg. 165

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

29
65

 :
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.D.a

Packet Pg. 166

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

29
65

 :
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.D.a

Packet Pg. 167

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

29
65

 :
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.E 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Schools 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   School Budget Amendments 

 

Attachments: School Budget Amendments_Feb21 (PDF) 

School Budget Amendments_March21 (PDF) 

 

8.E

Packet Pg. 168



8.E.a

Packet Pg. 169

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_F

eb
21

  (
29

42
 :

 S
ch

o
o

l B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

)



8.E.a

Packet Pg. 170

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_F

eb
21

  (
29

42
 :

 S
ch

o
o

l B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

)



8.E.a

Packet Pg. 171

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_F

eb
21

  (
29

42
 :

 S
ch

o
o

l B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

)



8.E.a

Packet Pg. 172

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_F

eb
21

  (
29

42
 :

 S
ch

o
o

l B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

)



8.E.a

Packet Pg. 173

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_F

eb
21

  (
29

42
 :

 S
ch

o
o

l B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

)



8.E.a

Packet Pg. 174

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_F

eb
21

  (
29

42
 :

 S
ch

o
o

l B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

)



8.E.a

Packet Pg. 175

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_F

eb
21

  (
29

42
 :

 S
ch

o
o

l B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

)



8.E.a

Packet Pg. 176

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_F

eb
21

  (
29

42
 :

 S
ch

o
o

l B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

)



8.E.a

Packet Pg. 177

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_F

eb
21

  (
29

42
 :

 S
ch

o
o

l B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

)



8.E.a

Packet Pg. 178

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_F

eb
21

  (
29

42
 :

 S
ch

o
o

l B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

)



8.E.a

Packet Pg. 179

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_F

eb
21

  (
29

42
 :

 S
ch

o
o

l B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

)



8.E.a

Packet Pg. 180

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_F

eb
21

  (
29

42
 :

 S
ch

o
o

l B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

)



8.E.a

Packet Pg. 181

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_F

eb
21

  (
29

42
 :

 S
ch

o
o

l B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 182

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 183

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 184

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 185

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 186

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 187

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 188

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 189

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 190

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 191

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 192

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 193

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 194

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 195

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



8.E.b

Packet Pg. 196

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
_M

ar
ch

21
  (

29
42

 :
 S

ch
o

o
l B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.F 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Tax Collection Report 

 

Attachments: Tax Collection Report (PDF) 

 

8.F

Packet Pg. 197



8.F.a

Packet Pg. 198

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ax
 C

o
lle

ct
io

n
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

29
50

 :
 T

ax
 C

o
lle

ct
io

n
 R

ep
o

rt
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.G 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Teri Smith, 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Teri Smith 

 
Item Title   DMV Monthly Report 

 

Attachments: DMV Monthly Report May, 21 (PDF) 

 

Summary:  DMV Monthly Report May, 21 Renewals Due 6/15/2021 

 

Recommendation:  Review and Approve 

8.G

Packet Pg. 199



8.G.a

Packet Pg. 200

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

M
V

 M
o

n
th

ly
 R

ep
o

rt
 M

ay
, 2

1 
 (

29
55

 :
 D

M
V

 M
o

n
th

ly
 R

ep
o

rt
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.H 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Teri Smith, 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Teri Smith 

 
Item Title   Refunds Over $100.00 

 

Attachments: REFUNDS OVER $100.00, FEB, 2021 (PDF) 

 

Summary:   Refunds Over $100.00, Feb 2021 

 

Recommendation:   Review and Approve 

8.H

Packet Pg. 201



8.H.a

Packet Pg. 202

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

E
F

U
N

D
S

 O
V

E
R

 $
10

0.
00

, F
E

B
, 2

02
1 

 (
29

61
 :

 R
ef

u
n

d
s 

O
ve

r 
$1

00
.0

0)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.I 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Teri Smith, 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Teri Smith 

 
Item Title   Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00 

 

Attachments: VEHICLE REFUNDS OVER $100.00 FEB, 21 (PDF) 

 

Summary:   Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00 for Feb., 2021 

 

Recommendation:   Review and Approve 

8.I

Packet Pg. 203



8.I.a

Packet Pg. 204

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 V

E
H

IC
L

E
 R

E
F

U
N

D
S

 O
V

E
R

 $
10

0.
00

 F
E

B
, 2

1 
 (

29
39

 :
 V

eh
ic

le
 R

ef
u

n
d

s 
O

ve
r 

$1
00

.0
0)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.J 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Pickups, Releases & Refunds 

 

Attachments: Pickkups, Releases & Refunds (PDF) 

 

8.J

Packet Pg. 205



8.J.a

Packet Pg. 206

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ic
kk

u
p

s,
 R

el
ea

se
s 

&
 R

ef
u

n
d

s 
 (

29
67

 :
 P

ic
ku

p
s,

 R
el

ea
se

s 
&

 R
ef

u
n

d
s)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.K 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Surplus Property 

 

Attachments: Surplus_Public Works (PDF) 

Surplus_ParksandRec (PDF) 

 

8.K

Packet Pg. 207



8.K.a

Packet Pg. 208

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s_

P
u

b
lic

 W
o

rk
s 

 (
29

60
 :

 S
u

rp
lu

s 
P

ro
p

er
ty

 R
eq

u
es

ts
)



8.K.b

Packet Pg. 209

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s_

P
ar

ks
an

d
R

ec
  (

29
60

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 R

eq
u

es
ts

)



8.K.b

Packet Pg. 210

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s_

P
ar

ks
an

d
R

ec
  (

29
60

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 R

eq
u

es
ts

)



8.K.b

Packet Pg. 211

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s_

P
ar

ks
an

d
R

ec
  (

29
60

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 R

eq
u

es
ts

)



8.K.b

Packet Pg. 212

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s_

P
ar

ks
an

d
R

ec
  (

29
60

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 R

eq
u

es
ts

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 8.L 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Proclamation - NC 811 Safe Digging Month 

 

Attachments: Proclamation - 2021 (DOCX) 

 
Summary: 

The North Carolina One Call System (NC811), a utility notification and education center that celebrates 

its 43rd year of service to the citizens of North Carolina, is a vital part of preventing damages and injuries 

when excavating. This vital notification service started in 1978 reaching 2.1 million locate requests from 

excavators to homeowners in 2020. North Carolina law requires that anyone engaging in demolition or 

excavation activities contact NC811 at least three days prior to beginning the work by calling or clicking 

811.  

 

It is the request of North Carolina 811 that the Camden County Board of Commissioners adopt the 

attached proclamation designating the month of April as North Carolina 811 Safe Digging Month. 

 

Recommendation: 

Adopt proclamation. 

8.L

Packet Pg. 213



 

Proclamation 

Camden County designating the month of April 2021 as “North Carolina 811 Safe Digging 

Month.” 

WHEREAS, as utility owners, excavators, designers, and homeowners work to keep pace with 

North Carolina’s economic development, it is important to minimize damages to underground 

utility lines, danger to workers and the general public, environmental impact, and loss of utility 

services to the citizens of North Carolina; and 

WHEREAS, North Carolina 811, a utility service notification center and leader in education 

celebrates its 43rd year of continuous service to the State, is key to preventing injuries and 

damages when excavating; and 

WHEREAS, this unique service provides easy, one-call notification about construction and 

excavation projects that may endanger workers and jeopardize utility lines while promoting 

workplace and public safety, reducing underground utility damage, minimizing utility service 

interruptions and protecting the environment; and  

WHEREAS, this vital service, which began in 1978 serves the citizens of North Carolina from 

the mountains to the coast, educates stakeholders about the need for excavation safety whether 

the project is as small as planting a tree to designing and beginning construction on a new 

interstate; and  

WHEREAS, in 2020, the North Carolina one call system received 2.1 million notification 

requests and transmitted over 12.2 million requests, providing protection to utility companies 

infrastructure, their employees, excavators, and customers; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That Camden County has designated the month of 

April 2021 as “North Carolina 811 Safe Digging Month” to encourage all excavators and 

homeowners of Camden County to contact 8-1-1 either by dialing 8-1-1 or contacting NC811 via 

the webpage of NC811.org at least three working days prior to digging in order to “Know 

What’s Below,” avoid injury, protect the environment, prevent millions of dollars in damages 

and to remind excavators that three working days’ notice is the law, for safe digging is no 

accident, and that more information may be obtained by visiting www.nc811.org. 

Proclaimed this the 5th day of April, 2021. 

 

       ATTEST: 

 

______________________________________ ____________________________________ 

Tom White, Chairman    Karen M. Davis 

Camden County Board of Commissioners  Clerk to the Board of Commissioners 

8.L.a

Packet Pg. 214

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
cl

am
at

io
n

 -
 2

02
1 

 (
29

51
 :

 P
ro

cl
am

at
io

n
 -

 N
C

 8
11

 S
af

e 
D

ig
g

in
g

 M
o

n
th

)

http://www.nc811.org/


 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 

 

Item Number: 11.A 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Tammie Krauss, Register of Deeds 

 Register of Deeds 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Register of Deeds Report 

 

Attachments: Register of Deeds Report (PDF) 

 

11.A

Packet Pg. 215



11.A.a

Packet Pg. 216

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eg
is

te
r 

o
f 

D
ee

d
s 

R
ep

o
rt

  (
29

43
 :

 R
eg

is
te

r 
o

f 
D

ee
d

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



11.A.a

Packet Pg. 217

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eg
is

te
r 

o
f 

D
ee

d
s 

R
ep

o
rt

  (
29

43
 :

 R
eg

is
te

r 
o

f 
D

ee
d

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 

 

Item Number: 11.B 

Meeting Date:   April 05, 2021 

 

Submitted By: Kim Perry, 

 Library 

 Prepared by: Kim Perry 

 
Item Title   Library Report 

 

Attachments: 21-02 (DOCX) 

 

11.B

Packet Pg. 218



Camden County Public Library 

FEBRUARY 2021 Statistics 
 

Visitor Count 598 

Materials Check Outs & Renewals 2,043 

Computer/ Wireless Use 44/206 

Questions Answered 262 

Children’s Programs/Attendance 0/0 

Adult Programs/Attendance 0/0 

Outreach Programs/Attendance 1/0 

Meeting Room Usage/Attendance 8/67 

Days/Hours Open 18/144 

# Items in Collection 19,393 

Library Card Holders 2,669 

Curbside Pickups 20 

 

Comparison by Year 

2019-2021 

  
           

 

 

 

1793
1889

598

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

2019 FEB 2020 FEB 2021 FEB

Attendance
3320

3180

2043

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

2019 FEB 2020 FEB 2021 FEB

Circulation

11.B.a

Packet Pg. 219

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

1-
02

  (
29

66
 :

 L
ib

ra
ry

 R
ep

o
rt

)


	Agenda Packet
	Welcome & Call to Order
	Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance
	Pastor Bill Blake - McBride United Methodist Church

	1. Public Comments
	2. Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement
	3. Consideration of Agenda
	4. Presentations
	A. 2963 : Camden Sheriff's Office - Brandon Blount
	Printout: 2963 : Camden Sheriff's Office - Brandon Blount

	B. 2959 : Animal Ordinance Amendment Request - Cam Smart
	Printout: 2959 : Animal Ordinance Amendment Request - Cam Smart
	a. Board of Commissioners

	C. 2954 : New High School Progress Report - Rick Ott, MB Kahn
	Printout: 2954 : New High School Progress Report - Rick Ott, MB Kahn


	Recess to South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors
	Reconvene Board of Commissioners
	5. Public Hearings
	A. 2952 : Camden Solar, LLC Amendment Request
	Printout: 2952 : Camden Solar, LLC Amendment Request
	a. 1_CamdenSolarFarm_SummaryPublicHearing
	b. 1_StafReport__CamdenSolarFarmAmendSUP
	c. 2_Application
	d. 3_Affadavitt
	e. 4_NeighborhoodMeeting _23Feb21
	f. 5_OrderForSUP2017-10-01CamdenSolar

	B. 2953 : Avery Shores Rezoning Request
	Printout: 2953 : Avery Shores Rezoning Request
	a. 1_AgendaSummary_AveryRezoning
	b. 1_StaffReport_AverytRezoning
	c. 2_ZoningMapAmendmentApplication
	d. 3_SitePlan
	e. 4_Zoning Comparision PD & WL to SR
	f. 5_NeighborhoodMeetingInformation
	g. 6_Deed
	h. 7_OrdinanceForAveryRezoning
	i. 8_CAMA_LUP Amendment Resolution


	6. New Business
	A. 2956 : Tax Report
	Printout: 2956 : Tax Report
	a. Feb. 2021 monthly report

	B. 2957 : Board of Equalization and Review
	Printout: 2957 : Board of Equalization and Review

	C. 2962 : Advertisement of Liens on Real Property
	Printout: 2962 : Advertisement of Liens on Real Property
	a. Lien ad for meeting 2020

	D. 2969 : Finance Policies & Procedures - Ken Bowman
	Printout: 2969 : Finance Policies & Procedures - Ken Bowman
	a. FinancePoliciesProcedures FINAL Updated 033031 Bowman approved
	b. Financial Policies Resolution 2007-05-04
	c. Petty Cash Resolution 5-1-2017
	d. Travel Policy  approved  09-2019
	e. CAMDEN COUNTY PURCHASING CARD AGREEMENT.docx


	7. Board Appointments
	A. 2941 : Planning Board
	Printout: 2941 : Planning Board
	a. Dave Parks_Planning

	B. 2947 : Senior Advisory Board
	Printout: 2947 : Senior Advisory Board

	C. 2948 : Parks & Recreation Advisory Board
	Printout: 2948 : Parks & Recreation Advisory Board

	D. 2949 : Senior Tarheel Legislature
	Printout: 2949 : Senior Tarheel Legislature


	8. Consent Agenda
	A. 2940 : BOC Meeting Minutes - March 1, 2021
	Printout: 2940 : BOC Meeting Minutes - March 1, 2021
	a. bocminutes_030121

	B. 2946 : BOC Meeting Minutes - March 3, 2021
	Printout: 2946 : BOC Meeting Minutes - March 3, 2021
	a. bocminutes_030321

	C. 2968 : Closed Session Minutes
	Printout: 2968 : Closed Session Minutes

	D. 2965 : Budget Amendments
	Printout: 2965 : Budget Amendments
	a. Budget Amendments

	E. 2942 : School Budget Amendments
	Printout: 2942 : School Budget Amendments
	a. School Budget Amendments_Feb21
	b. School Budget Amendments_March21

	F. 2950 : Tax Collection Report
	Printout: 2950 : Tax Collection Report
	a. Tax Collection Report

	G. 2955 : DMV Monthly Report
	Printout: 2955 : DMV Monthly Report
	a. DMV Monthly Report May, 21

	H. 2961 : Refunds Over $100.00
	Printout: 2961 : Refunds Over $100.00
	a. REFUNDS OVER $100.00, FEB, 2021

	I. 2939 : Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00
	Printout: 2939 : Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00
	a. VEHICLE REFUNDS OVER $100.00 FEB, 21

	J. 2967 : Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	Printout: 2967 : Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	a. Pickkups, Releases & Refunds

	K. 2960 : Surplus Property Requests
	Printout: 2960 : Surplus Property Requests
	a. Surplus_Public Works
	b. Surplus_ParksandRec

	L. 2951 : Proclamation - NC 811 Safe Digging Month
	Printout: 2951 : Proclamation - NC 811 Safe Digging Month
	a. Proclamation - 2021


	9. County Manager's Report
	10. Commissioners' Reports
	11. Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies
	A. 2943 : Register of Deeds Report
	Printout: 2943 : Register of Deeds Report
	a. Register of Deeds Report

	B. 2966 : Library Report
	Printout: 2966 : Library Report
	a. 21-02


	12. Other Matters
	13. Adjourn

	Appendix
	4.A · 2963 : Camden Sheriff's Office - Brandon Blount
	4.B · 2959 : Animal Ordinance Amendment Request - Cam Smart
	4.B.a · Board of Commissioners

	4.C · 2954 : New High School Progress Report - Rick Ott, MB Kahn
	5.A · 2952 : Camden Solar, LLC Amendment Request
	5.A.a · 1_CamdenSolarFarm_SummaryPublicHearing
	5.A.b · 1_StafReport__CamdenSolarFarmAmendSUP
	5.A.c · 2_Application
	5.A.d · 3_Affadavitt
	5.A.e · 4_NeighborhoodMeeting _23Feb21
	5.A.f · 5_OrderForSUP2017-10-01CamdenSolar

	5.B · 2953 : Avery Shores Rezoning Request
	5.B.a · 1_AgendaSummary_AveryRezoning
	5.B.b · 1_StaffReport_AverytRezoning
	5.B.c · 2_ZoningMapAmendmentApplication
	5.B.d · 3_SitePlan
	5.B.e · 4_Zoning Comparision PD & WL to SR
	5.B.f · 5_NeighborhoodMeetingInformation
	5.B.g · 6_Deed
	5.B.h · 7_OrdinanceForAveryRezoning
	5.B.i · 8_CAMA_LUP Amendment Resolution

	6.A · 2956 : Tax Report
	6.A.a · Feb. 2021 monthly report

	6.B · 2957 : Board of Equalization and Review
	6.C · 2962 : Advertisement of Liens on Real Property
	6.C.a · Lien ad for meeting 2020

	6.D · 2969 : Finance Policies & Procedures - Ken Bowman
	6.D.a · FinancePoliciesProcedures FINAL Updated 033031 Bowman approved
	6.D.b · Financial Policies Resolution 2007-05-04
	6.D.c · Petty Cash Resolution 5-1-2017
	6.D.d · Travel Policy  approved  09-2019
	6.D.e · CAMDEN COUNTY PURCHASING CARD AGREEMENT.docx

	7.A · 2941 : Planning Board
	7.A.a · Dave Parks_Planning

	7.B · 2947 : Senior Advisory Board
	7.C · 2948 : Parks & Recreation Advisory Board
	7.D · 2949 : Senior Tarheel Legislature
	8.A · 2940 : BOC Meeting Minutes - March 1, 2021
	8.A.a · bocminutes_030121

	8.B · 2946 : BOC Meeting Minutes - March 3, 2021
	8.B.a · bocminutes_030321

	8.C · 2968 : Closed Session Minutes
	8.D · 2965 : Budget Amendments
	8.D.a · Budget Amendments

	8.E · 2942 : School Budget Amendments
	8.E.a · School Budget Amendments_Feb21
	8.E.b · School Budget Amendments_March21

	8.F · 2950 : Tax Collection Report
	8.F.a · Tax Collection Report

	8.G · 2955 : DMV Monthly Report
	8.G.a · DMV Monthly Report May, 21

	8.H · 2961 : Refunds Over $100.00
	8.H.a · REFUNDS OVER $100.00, FEB, 2021

	8.I · 2939 : Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00
	8.I.a · VEHICLE REFUNDS OVER $100.00 FEB, 21

	8.J · 2967 : Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	8.J.a · Pickkups, Releases & Refunds

	8.K · 2960 : Surplus Property Requests
	8.K.a · Surplus_Public Works
	8.K.b · Surplus_ParksandRec

	8.L · 2951 : Proclamation - NC 811 Safe Digging Month
	8.L.a · Proclamation - 2021

	11.A · 2943 : Register of Deeds Report
	11.A.a · Register of Deeds Report

	11.B · 2966 : Library Report
	11.B.a · 21-02



